
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held Virtually on Monday, 22 February 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. GBC Response to the COVID Pandemic (Pages 13 - 36)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. Update against the LGA Peer Challenge Recommendations (Pages 37 - 56)

8. Proposed amendments to the Articles of Association for Rosherville Limited (Pages 57 - 84)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

11.Gurdwara Car Park (Pages 85 - 88)

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Cabinet

Monday, 1 February 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Lisa Nyon Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
James Bridges Digital Developer (Technical Support)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

64. Apologies for absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

65. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 4 January 2021 were signed by the Chair.

66. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared an other interest, for information purposes only, in agenda item 
10 – General Fund Revenue and Capital Estimates 2021/22 as he was a Director on and the 
Chair of the Rosherville Ltd Board.

Cllr Rolles also declared an other interest, for information purposes only, in agenda item 8 - 
General Fund Budget Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2021/22 as he was a Director on the 
Board of the Regatta Committee.

The Director (Planning & Development) declared an other interest, for information purposes 
only, in agenda item 10 – General Fund Revenue and Capital Estimates 2021/22 as he was 
a Director on the Rosherville Property Development Ltd Board.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 1.02.2021

2

 The Director (Communities) declared an other interest, for information purposes only, in 
agenda item 10 – General Fund Revenue and Capital Estimates 2021/22 as she was a 
Director on the Rosherville Ltd Board.

The Leader declared an other interest, for information purposes only, in agenda item 8 – 
General Fund Budget Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2021/22 as he was a Director on the 
GCLL Board.

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an other interest, for information purposes only, in agenda 
item 8 - General Fund Budget Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2021/22 as he was a Director on 
the Boards of the Regatta Committee and The Gr@nd.

67. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

68. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2020/21 

Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for Quarter 3 
2020/21 (October to December 2020).

Appendix 2 of the report provided a summary of corporate performance in the last reporting 
quarter with the following statistical headlines:

- 49% of report indicators improved of maintained their level of performance; and 
- 51% of reported indicators had fallen in their level of performance.

Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following headlines 
were presented for the last reporting quarter: -

 People: 50% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of
performance;

 Place: 30% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; 
and

 Progress: 80% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of
performance.

A number of points were highlighted by the Cabinet including the successful collection of 
additional waste and recycling produced as a result of the pandemic; maintaining high 
quality services in the face of up to 50% sickness and other absence; the redeployment of 
staff to deal with Covid issues and the maintenance of the day job; improvements in the 
cleanliness of the Borough; work on youth unemployment initiatives including Kickstart and 
the support of local businesses; the efforts of officers in the pursuance of contractual social 
value from the Council’s suppliers; the continuity of service from housing services and 
repairs etc.

Officers were commended on an excellent job in maintaining the level of the performance 
indicators and Members expressed their gratitude for all officers’ efforts whilst also 
maintaining their day jobs during the pandemic.

Page 4



Cabinet 1.02.2021

3

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

69. Albion Waterside (Canal Basin Area) - Possible Compulsory Purchase 
Order Requirement 

Cabinet was presented with a report which advised that in September 2020 the Council had 
agreed to the principle of Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) action. The Director (Planning 
& Development) advised that, since September, emerging work to highway access had 
resulted in the need to use some additional land at the junction with Ordnance Road and 
Milton Road which needed to be added to the ‘in principle’ authority, together with a desire to 
improve links which required the addition of the swing bridge at the lock gate.

The Leader noted that once a CPO was exercised, Gravesham Borough Council would own 
the land but would be financed via a back-to-back agreement with the developer.

Resolved that the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive 
and other officers as appropriate, be authorised to progress the making of a 
Compulsory Purchase Order for the land as outlined red on the plans attached at 
Appendices 3 to 5 in the report in the event that acquisition by agreement cannot be 
secured.

70. General Fund Budget Monitoring Quarter 3 2020/21 

Cabinet received the third budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position up to 
31 December 2020 and noted the information provided on:

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; 
and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan or Financial Statements.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) highlighted a number of points in the report as 
follows:

 A projected year-end adverse variance of £2m.
 Under the Communities Directorate, there was an anticipated deficit with regard to 

Leisure Services. However, the loss had been reduced by monies from the Sales, 
Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme.

 The Woodville and Borough Market income had been affected by the pandemic and 
this deficit had also been reduced by monies from the Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation Scheme. There had been income reductions in relation to the Horn 
Yard and Market Square car parks and the Charter development gains momentum.

 A Government support package had been received to assist with expenditure 
pressures and work stream support relating to the pandemic.

 Under the Housing & Operations Directorate, a net favourable variance had been 
achieved due to the increase in volume of garden waste and waste recycling income.

 Interest and investment income had reduced and now showed an adverse variance.

Page 5



Cabinet 1.02.2021

4

Members’ attention was drawn to the tables at paragraphs 3.10.1 and 3.10.2 of the report 
which showed Working Balances and General Fund Earmarked Reserves respectively.

The Cabinet was informed that, due to the Council’s efforts over the last five years, it had a 
strong level of reserves which would be sufficient to avoid serious financial difficulty in the 
short term however the Council was now forecasting a shortfall from 2025/2026 onwards.

The Leader noted that nearly all of the adverse variances were as a result of the pandemic 
and that the Council had lost £2m in projected income. These losses had been mitigated by 
the hard work of officers.

The following points were raised by Members:

 Cabinet was advised that whilst there was an adverse variance in relation to Leisure 
Services income, a great deal of support had been given by the Council to GCLL. In 
addition, the market equipment neutral variance built on the new Market Strategy and 
the situation would improve once the effects of the pandemic had reduced. 

 The budget had been brought together with a background of austerity and 40% 
Government budget cuts. Despite the work of officers, the Council was still facing 
huge losses.

 The homelessness initiatives in relation to the pandemic had involved a great deal of 
work for officers including accessing grants and funding from the Government which 
had been very complex and difficult so much so that some local authorities had given 
up. 

 Attention was drawn to the new recycling wheelie bins being introduced for the 
occupiers of flats and apartments and that many new recycling initiatives were now in 
place which had been a huge step forward.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

71. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Quarter 3 2020/21 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) reported that as at the end of quarter 3 the HRA 
was expected to draw just over £330k from the HRA general reserve at year-end instead of 
£1.4m as was expected at the time of setting the budget in February 2020. 

Members were advised of the following:

 The vacancy management variance reported at quarter 3 stood at £497k.
 A favourable variance of £320k was reported against responsive repairs, this was 

despite the challenges faced during lockdowns.
 There was a further favourable variance of £109k against the external decorations 

budget line following a review of the level of asbestos work required.
 An adverse variance of £100k had been reported against repairs and maintenance.  A 

mini tornado in December had caused damage to some properties in the Borough and 
scaffold costs had been around £70k.  Whilst the Council had insurance cover in place, 
there was an excess of £10k per property and a stop loss of £100k on the policy. 
Officers were working with Zurich to establish what level of costs could be recovered 
through the insurance policies. However, this was unlikely to be concluded in this 

Page 6



Cabinet 1.02.2021

5

financial year and therefore costs were likely to be included in this year’s budget but 
any insurance pay outs would be included in the next or a future year’s budgets.

 There was a total favourable variance of £754k against capital financing due to delays 
in the capital programme as a direct result of the pandemic.  Therefore, there was a 
lower draw on the HRA general reserve to finance the works and as there was now a 
lower borrowing requirement, the associated interest costs were also lower, both 
resulting in the overall variance. 

 As had previously been reported, a variance had been anticipated of £300k from rent 
on dwellings, down from initial estimates of £500k.  In view of current debt levels this 
had been further reduced to £250k.

 The working balances that were supplemented by specific reserves and the forecast 
balance was forecast to be £2.7m.

 £10.4m had been committed to Housing Capital schemes at the end of quarter 3. 
However, the pandemic had had an adverse effect on housing maintenance and the 
new build programme. Contractors had scaled back their work and the situation was 
being closely monitored. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

72. General Fund Budget Setting 2021/22 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) presented the draft budget and proposals for 
2021/22. The report contained the General Fund Revenue and Capital Estimates for 
2021/22, as well as the revised estimates for 2020/21 and longer term budget projections, as 
set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. She noted that the pandemic had 
created new challenges for the future sustainability of the Council, which had been 
compounded by the ongoing and prolonged uncertainty around the future funding of local 
government. Members were advised that format of the budget report included a covering 
summary report which outlined the budget setting context and proposals with a series of 
appendices providing the detail.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) highlighted the following points:

 Appendix 2 - The budget had been prepared on the basis of the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement announced on 17th December.

 Similarly to last year, this was a one year only settlement pending the outcome of the 
Spending Review and Fair Funding Review.

 There had been a number of cuts to local government funding over the last 10 years 
and attention was drawn to the table under point 3 of Appendix 2 showing that there 
has been no increase in the business rates baseline this year.  However, there was a 
continuation from last year of Government eliminating ‘negative Revenue Support 
Grant’ for Gravesham and this was budgeted to be £244k. In addition, the provisional 
settlement had introduced a new Lower Tier Services Grant intended to ensure that no 
lower tier council had a decrease in spending power. For Gravesham, the provisional 
settlement indicated that this grant would be £126,260.

 The graph in point 11of the report showed the assumed increase in Core Spending 
power for 2021/22 of 1.4% This assumed a rise in Council Tax receipts which had been 
reflected by the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

 The Council had secured indicative New Homes Bonus funding for 2021/22 of 
£311,050. This was below the level of funding that was previously in the Medium Term 

Page 7



Cabinet 1.02.2021

6

Financial Plan due to there being only 55 net additions to the housing stock of the 
Borough due to the pandemic, less than the 167 net additional homes needed to be 
delivered to meet the 0.4% national baseline. 

 This had resulted in an increase of Core Spending power per dwelling in the Borough 
of c.2% or £252. This is the sixth lowest in Kent.

 With regards to Business Rates for 2021/22 Gravesham would continue to be part of 
the Kent pool.

 The current Medium Term Financial Strategy covered the period to 31 March 2021 and 
in the absence of any certainty from the Government on local government funding, it 
had been decided that the Council would produce another one year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, effectively a holding statement, until the outcomes of the Spending 
Review, Fair Funding Review and Business Rates reforms were known.

 In relation to the Council Tax charge - the Provisional Finance Settlement 
announcement had indicated the continued flexibility for district councils in setting 
Council Tax levels by permitting district councils to raise Council Tax by 2% or up to 
and including £5 (whichever was higher) without triggering the requirement for a 
referendum. Therefore, the budget had been prepared on the basis of a £4.95 or 
(2.3%) increase, taking the Council’s element of the charge from the current level of 
£208.08 to £213.03.

 It was proposed that working balances remain at £5.25m, this comprised of minimum 
working balances of £2m and General Reserve of £3.25m.

 The draft Capital Programme for 2021/22 was expected to cost £52.3m. The main 
items being works for Heritage Quarter of £5m, Elizabeth Huggins Cottages £2m and 
The Charter £27m.

The Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that she was confident about the budget 
proposals which once again had been built in the face of a lack of funding arrangements plus 
ten years of sustained cuts and the effects of the pandemic. However, she noted that whilst 
it had been difficult the Council was still in a strong position because of work undertaken 
previously and the budget continued to deliver the Council’s objectives including 
employment opportunities. However, the impact of Covid had resulted in a budget gap of 
£2.6m emerging in 2025/26 in the Medium Term Financial Plan.

The Leader drew attention to the fact that this would be a recommendation from Cabinet to 
Council and all Members would be invited to attend that meeting. He considered the budget 
to be a responsible programme and congratulated finance officers on their positivity. 

The following comments were made during discussion on this subject:

 Attention was drawn to the table on page 105 of the report and it was highlighted that 
this excluded the work the Council had undertaken to provide services for its residents. 
The pandemic had resulted in a difficult year for everyone and an increase in Council 
Tax would be a difficult decision. However, it was further noted that most of the 
increases came from Kent County Council and the Kent Police Authority. 

 Cabinet was advised that 60% of circa 43,000 residences in the Borough, fell below 
Council Tax Band D and that the Council would continue to offer support to residents 
and to signpost to other means of help and advice. 18% of properties fell within the 
higher bands and that Gravesham had a high concentration of low band residences 
which made it difficult to generate significant receipts.

 It was noted that a high proportion of core spending power had previously been 
provided by the Government through direct funding and the Director (Corporate 

Page 8



Cabinet 1.02.2021

7

Services) confirmed of local authorities’ core spending power, 96% was now funded 
from local taxation and the primary funding source for the Council was the council tax.

 It was requested that residents be assisted to clearly understand the division of the 
council tax between precepting authorities and that the Council was the collection 
authority and only received 12%. It was also noted that the format of council tax bills 
was prescribed in legislation and that the Council had to pay a fixed amount to all 
precepting authorities, such as Kent County Council, the Kent Police Authority and 
parish councils etc. irrespective of whether the Borough Council had been able to 
collect the full amount of council tax due. Whilst it was noted that this would be 
balanced in later years, the Council had to bridge the funding gap in the meantime 
which affected cash flow.

 It was felt that the number of dwellings Band D and below that would pay an increase 
in Council Tax of less than £5 per year could not be overemphasised.

The Chief Executive reported the Local Government Association (LGA) and the District 
Councils’ Network (DCN) had been lobbying the Government on four key issues:

1. It was widely considered that the New Homes Bonus threshold being held at 0.4% 
did not hold up to scrutiny and was arbitrary. 

2. Greater longevity and higher amounts of Covid funding for local government was a 
necessity.

3. Leisure Trusts – the Council had provided cumulative support to GCLL of £1m in the 
absence of any meaningful financial support to council-owned leisure centres 
operated by Trusts such as GCLL.

4. There was an inequality in referendum principles for Council Tax considerations 
between, for example, county councils and district councils. District council could 
increase their Council Tax up to £5 per year.  Other preceptors such as KCC and 
Kent PCC had far greater flexibility and parish councils had no referendum principles 
and could therefore could levy an increase greater than that of district councils. 
Lobbying was being undertaken to increase local discretion and flexibility in the Final 
Local Government Finance Settlement for District Councils.

The Chief Executive advised that details on the Government’s final settlement were due to 
be received in the next week and he undertook to ensure that Members were briefed as 
soon as possible. 

The Leader concluded that the proposed budget was a very strong base and that the 
reserves had been affected by the introduction of Universal Credit and then by the 
pandemic. The reserves needed to be rebuilt to enable the Council to face the future. The 
biggest issue for the budget had been the continued Government austerity. Council Tax may 
be the only source to provide an uplift in funding for services.  Despite all the efforts of the 
staff during Covid, central government had set out that there would be no increase in 
salaries, except for those on lower incomes. However, the Council was in a strong position.

Resolved that a resolution be placed before the meeting of the Council on Tuesday, 
23 February 2021, specifying the Council Tax to be levied in the Borough of 
Gravesham for the year 2021/22.

Page 9



Cabinet 1.02.2021

8

73. Housing Revenue Account Budget Setting 2021/22 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) introduced the report which presented the draft 
revenue and capital estimates for the Housing Revenue Account in 2021/22 and the 
following key points were highlighted:

- An income of 28m and expenditure of £29m.
- As per the Spending Review announcements on public sector pay in November, the 

budget reflected no inflationary increase for 2021/22 with the exception of those 
earning less than £24k per annum who would receive a pay increase of at least 
£250. 

- A budget of £200k had been provided to support a planned review and restructure of 
housing services. 

- Service charges had increased to a level capped at CPI +1 (1.5%) bringing the 
average service charge to £3.72 from £3.39.

- The Council would continue with the Housing Capital Programme set out in 2020-21 
which had been severely impacted by the pandemic. The programme for the year 
was estimated at £20.8m with the focus being to maintain current housing stock and 
deliver on the new build and acquisitions programme.

The Director (Corporate Services) noted that the Housing Revenue Account was subject 
to pressures on income including the Government policy on rent reductions in previous 
years and changes in Right to Buy. 

Resolved that the Cabinet recommends to Council that:

1. the draft Revenue estimates for 2021/22 together with the revised estimates for 
2020/21 be approved;

2. the draft capital estimates together with the revised estimates for 2020/21 be 
approved, subject to detailed reports coming forward for new schemes, where 
applicable;

3. the increase in average rents of 1.5% for 2021/22 be noted; and
4. due consideration is given to the view of the Director (Corporate Services) (as 

S151 Officer) on the robustness of estimates for the coming year, the medium 
term financial strategy and the adequacy of proposed reserves and balances, as 
required under Section 25 of the Local Government Finance Act 2003.

74. Fees and Charges 2021/22 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there was a requirement in the 
Financial Procedure Rules that fees and charges would be reviewed at least annually in 
accordance with the Council’s budget setting framework. The responsibility for determining 
fees and charges, with the exception of car parking fees, had been delegated to Directors 
and Assistant Directors. In reviewing the fees and charges, officers would liaise with their 
appropriate Lead Member to consider any proposed revisions to charges or the introduction 
of new charges.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

Page 10



Cabinet 1.02.2021

9

75. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held 
on Thursday, 21 January 2021 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday, 21 January 2021.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.56 pm

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 22 February 2021

Reporting officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Review of GBC response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Cabinet with a summary of the outcomes of the internal review 
that has been undertaken in relation to how the council has responded to the COVID-19 
pandemic both through the first lockdown, and subsequent lockdowns announced.

Recommendations:
Members are asked to note the outcomes of the review that has been undertaken, and the 
future work streams identified to support the borough’s recovery from the pandemic.

1. Introduction

1.1 The practical impact of the global Covid-19 health pandemic for the council 
emerged in late 2019-20, principally via the Prime Minister’s speech to the nation 
on 23 March 2020 and the enactment of the Coronavirus Act 2020.  This resulted 
in the council undertaking a number of different work streams in order to support 
the community and the council’s employees during the pandemic.

1.2 The Annual Governance Statement for 2019-20, recognised the importance that 
this has had on the council and as such, the need to undertake a review of the 
council’s response to the pandemic from a governance perspective featured in the 
AGS through the following recommendation:
A recommendation by CIPFA for local government as a sector, is to undertake a 
review of the council’s administration of the Covid-19 crisis. The review will 
consider both the decisions undertaken in direct response and the future planning 
for preparedness of a second wave of the virus. The review will also consider the 
underpinning approach to business continuity across the organisation.

1.3 In line with the recommendation in the AGS, a review of the council’s overall 
approach to the pandemic commenced at the end of the Summer 2020 and 
initially focused on the way in which the council responded to the first lockdown.  
The report also looks to provide an update against the additional work streams 
that have been implemented as a result of the subsequent lockdowns announced 
by central government in November 2020 and January 2021.

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Responding to the first lockdown – March 2020 to July 2020

2.1 At the start of the pandemic, the council took responsibility for providing support to 
thousands of residents and local businesses across the borough, both in response 
to government initiatives but also in its role as a Community Leader.  As such, the 
first part of the review looked at how the council had approached the following six 
areas:

 Supporting Vulnerable People (NHS Shielded and Extremely vulnerable 
residents);

 Interactions with external agencies;

 Allocation of business grants;

 Approach to rough sleepers at the time of the pandemic;

 Council tax support; and

 Council approach to social media and communications (external).

2.2 In undertaking the review of each area, officers who were directly involved in each 
of the areas detailed above were asked to provide their thoughts about the project 
both in terms of what went well but also what didn’t necessarily work as planned 
and therefore could be changed/improved for the future.

2.3 Supporting Vulnerable People (NHS Shielded and Extremely vulnerable residents)

2.3.1 Once the first lockdown commenced, all local authorities were tasked with 
supporting those residents within their boroughs who were either identified 
through the NHS Shielding programme, or who were identified as being 
extremely vulnerable.

2.3.2 At Gravesham, the council took this responsibility very seriously and put in 
place a robust process to ensure all identified residents were contacted 
during the lockdown period, up until the point at which they felt they no 
longer required support. This was a collaborative response across the 
council with officers from several departments volunteering to make phone 
calls to residents, which were, at times, very difficult, officers from Parking 
Services and Safer Place Officer carrying out door knocks to those we 
could not contact and general project support from other departments as 
required.

2.3.3 By the end of the first lockdown period (July 2020):

 5,214 residents in total (shielded and extremely vulnerable) were 
directly supported by the council.

 11,491 phone calls were made over the duration of the project.

 592 door knocks were undertaken for those residents where contact 
was not possible.

2.3.4 Feedback from residents across the borough was extremely positive, and 
was passed on to officers when they were making the calls:
“..appreciative of our calls and said it was really nice to know that people 
 are there who care for others in their community. Asked me to pass on 
 their thanks to the people at the Town Hall.”
“Thanked us for all the help and calls over the past few months”

Page 14



3

“Thank you for all that we have done for them they are extremely grateful - 
  all the calls have been lovely!!”

2.4 Interactions with external agencies

2.4.1 During the first lockdown period, the council worked with a number of 
partners and agencies to ensure the provision of services to residents and 
businesses in the borough.  Specifically, new relationships were forged 
with the following organisations:

 The Foodbanks at the Hive and Riverside
The Foodbanks provided invaluable support to residents in the 
borough.  Working with the Council, food parcels were prepared and 
allocated to those in need.  As a result of this developing relationship, 
the council has committed to provide an annual grant to both sites to 
provide much needed funding, as both food banks are financed 
through fundraising. 

 North West Kent Volunteer Centre and Council for Voluntary Services
The volunteer services provided the Council with an additional 
resource to assist the large number of clinically extremely vulnerable 
residents in the borough through provision of befriending services, 
medicine collection services and general support. As a result of this 
developing relationship, the council has committed to provide an 
annual grant to support the continued work of both organisations.

 Alzheimer’s & Dementia
In a similar way to the Volunteer centre, the organisation was able to 
provide support to some of the most vulnerable community in the 
borough, providing regular befriending calls to those who were in need.

2.4.2 The development of relationships with external agencies has prompted a 
full review of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework to ensure it 
is reflective of the current working arrangements that are in place.  This will 
be presented to Cabinet and Full Council in due course.

2.5 Allocation of business grants

2.5.1 In response to the COVID pandemic, central government implemented a 
business grant scheme to provide support to small businesses, and 
businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors. Local authorities 
were required to administer the grant process, including the payment of 
the grants to eligible businesses, with central government fully reimbursing 
local authorities for the value of the grants paid out.

2.5.2 The council put in place a robust process for identifying eligible businesses 
and ensuring grants were paid to businesses as quickly and accurately as 
possible.

2.5.3 In response to the first phase of lockdown, the council allocated a total of 
£15,229,000 to eligible businesses in Gravesham:

 1,191 businesses were allocated funds under the Small Business 
Grant Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants.

 75 businesses under the Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund.

Page 15



4

2.5.4 For a period of time towards the start of the scheme, the council was in the 
top 5% of all council’s in England in terms of the proportion of eligible 
businesses that had received grant funding.

2.6 Approach to rough sleepers at the time of the pandemic

2.6.1 In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic the government introduced the 
‘Everyone In’ campaign, a national programme to facilitate a transition for 
rough sleepers from the streets in to safe accommodation and to support 
those who were homeless at the time of the pandemic through the 
forthcoming weeks and months. This initiative called on council’s to 
accommodate all rough sleepers by 30 March.

2.6.2 The council provided accommodation for residents of the winter night 
shelter when it closed prematurely on 22 March 2020.  Under the 
‘Everyone In’ initiative, the council placed 23 people in temporary 
accommodation, including 4 rough sleepers identified during an early 
morning street count on 24 March.

2.6.3 The numbers in temporary accommodation have risen steadily during the 
quarter from 74 to 96, largely as a result of COVID-19 and the requirement 
to accommodate rough sleepers.

2.6.4 Council officers were able to respond to the additional demands placed 
upon them with the assistance of partners and implemented a central point 
of contact to enable clients to get in touch with the council quickly and 
easily; this was a key positive drawn out by officers when asked for 
feedback on the project.

2.7 Council tax support

2.7.1 In response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, local authorities were allocated a 
proportion of central Government’s Hardship Fund to be provided to 
residents in the borough in providing financial support at this 
unprecedented time. Alongside this, the council’s Revenues Team also 
provide general, ad hoc support to residents of the borough as required.

2.7.2 Working closely with the Communication team advice was issued to 
residents by way of a flyer, online and via social media re the Hardship 
Fund in advance of any credits being made.

2.7.3 A total of £500m of new grant funding was provided to local authorities 
across the UK to support economically vulnerable people and households 
in their local area.  The allocation of funding to GBC was £893,182. The 
fund is currently on track to be sufficient to enable further awards for any 
new working age claims received until the end of the scheme on 31 March 
2021.

2.8 Council approach to social media and communications (external)

2.8.1 In response to the pandemic, the Council was required to ensure that 
information was communicated to residents and businesses in the borough 
in the best possible way, ensuring that as many people were reached as 
possible.

2.8.2 A variety of communication channels were used; media, social media, 
posters and advertising, all designed to ensure messages were 
consistently and effectively communicated across the borough.

Page 16



5

2.8.3 Letters were sent to every household on three separate occasions to 
provide an overview of the support available form the council and to 
provide details of how to contact the council to access this support.  Three 
specific communications were undertaken; the first at the start of 
lockdown, the second when lockdown was extended beyond three months 
and the third at the start of lockdown 2.0 resulting in approximately 
126,000 letters being sent across the borough.

2.8.4 Emails and letters were also sent to all businesses whose details are held 
on the Business Rates database and with Economic Development team to 
outline the support available for businesses.

2.8.5 Feedback received is difficult to evaluate; often feedback via social media 
is constant, varied and unpredictable and based upon an inaccurate view 
of what the council is responsible for. Some general themes obtained from 
the feedback are as follow:

 Positive Feedback

o Largely positive at the start of lockdown, particularly around 
continuation of services such as waste and recycling 
collections.

o Positive feedback around support for vulnerable and shielding.
o Suspension of parking charges/resident permits

 Negative feedback

o Non-closure of parks where people were gathering and ignoring 
social distancing

o Closure of cemeteries
o Closure of town centre public toilets
o Perceived non-enforcement of lockdown regulations
o Cancellation of events

2.9 A summary of the recommendations resulting from each aspect of the review are 
shown in appendix two; these have been reported through the council’s 
Management Team for consideration in future projects as necessary.

2.10 In addition to the specific areas of activity highlighted above, the council also 
supported residents in a number of different ways.  

2.11 Specifically in terms of those residents in need:
2.11.1 Between March-June 2020, the council’s Customer Services Team 

responded to 1,460 calls to the council’s dedicated COVID support line 
and 2.750 e-mails to the dedicated COVID inbox.  These were in addition 
to the specific vulnerable person’s project detailed at paragraph 2.3.

2.11.2 Between April-June 2020, the council delivered 161 food parcels to 
residents in need (130 individual residents, some receiving more than one 
food parcel over the period).  These were residents that were outside the 
scope of the Government vulnerable persons project but were in need of 
support.

Page 17



6

2.12 In June 2020, the Cabinet approved a new Corporate Debt Strategy for the 
Council.  It was recognised that, as a result of the pandemic and the impact this 
would have on residents and business across the borough, the council would see 
an increase in the level of debt owed. Council officers explored the most effective 
way to undertake debt recovery, seeking to protect monies coming into the council 
to fund vital services, whilst adopting a fair and consistent approach to ensure that 
those who were facing financial hardship as a result of the pandemic were 
supported through this difficult time. A specific approach to debt recovery for those 
debtors classed as ‘vulnerable’ was implemented and residents and businesses 
were urged to contact the council in order to identify any payment problems as 
soon as possible, so that assistance could be provided by making alternative 
arrangements to pay or identifying where other financial support may be available 
through the council, the Benefits System or other partners.

2.13 Specifically in relation to rent arrears a campaign was deployed using social 
media, the council’s website and Your Borough to encourage anyone who was 
finding it difficult to pay their council housing rent to get in touch. As a result many 
tenants contacted the council and through an open dialogue officers were able to 
assist tenants with household budgeting and arranging revised payment plans to 
help them continue paying their rent through this very difficult period of time.  
Working with our tenants in this way has also helped to reduce our year-end rent 
arrear forecasts by £250,000.

2.14 Residents in the borough were also keen to provide support across the borough 
and between March-June 2020, the council received 582 volunteer applications.

3. Subsequent lockdown period – November 2020 to date

3.1 In response to an increase in cases of COVID-19 across the country, a second, 
four-week, lockdown period was introduced across the UK in November 2020, 
which was followed by the introduction of a ‘tiered’ system for COVID restrictions 
in local areas.  Whilst these rules were relaxed for a very short time over the 
Christmas-period, infection rates continued to rise, which resulted in the 
Government implementing a nationwide lockdown from 4 January 2021.

3.2 The second and third phases of lockdown, introduced additional work streams for 
the council, particularly in the areas of Business Support and supporting the 
national Test and Trace scheme.

3.3 Business Support Schemes

3.3.1 From November 2020, the council has been required to administer a vast 
array of grants to support businesses as follows:

Grant Title Description Amount payable Amount 
paid up to 
31/01/21

Local 
Restrictions 
Support 
Grant 
(LRSG) 
Addendum 
CLOSED

Payable during 
the second 
national 
lockdown from 
05 November 
to 01 
December.  

Based on rateable value:

Rateable Value Grant
£1-£15,000 £1,334
£15,001-£50,999 £2,000
£51,000+ £3,000

£672,546 
paid to 434 
eligible 
businesses.

Page 18



7

Grant Title Description Amount payable Amount 
paid up to 
31/01/21

Local 
Restrictions 
Support 
Grant 
(LRSG) 
CLOSED

Payable during 
the Tier 3 
phase - 2 to 19 
December 
2020 to 
businesses 
required to 
close.

Based on rateable value:

Rateable Value Grant
£1-£15,000 £857.57
£15,001-£50,999 £1,285.71
£51,000+ £1,928.57

£63,656.85 
paid to 59 
eligible 
businesses

In addition to the above grant, any wet-led pubs (where under normal 
circumstances sales of drink are the main source of income rather than food) 
were entitled to a one-off Christmas Support Payment of £1,000.

Local 
Restrictions 
Support 
Grant 
(LRSG) 
Addendum 
CLOSED

Payable during 
the Tier 4 
phase - 20 
December 
2020 to 4 
January 2021 
to businesses 
required to 
close.

Based on rateable value:

Rateable Value Grant
£1-£15,000 £762.29
£15,001-£50,999 £1,142.86
£51,000+ £1,714.29

£381,076 
paid to 432 
eligible 
businesses

Local 
Restrictions 
Support 
Grant 
(LRSG) 
CLOSED

Payable during 
national 
lockdown - 5 
January to 15 
February 2021 
to businesses 
required to 
close.

Based on rateable value:

Rateable Value Grant
£1-£15,000 £2,001
£15,001-£50,999 £3,000
£51,000+ £4,500

£1,000,320 
paid to 432 
eligible 
businesses

Closed 
Business 
Lockdown 
Grant

Payable during 
national 
lockdown - 5 
January to 15 
February 2021 
to businesses 
required to 
close in 
addition to the 
above grant.

Based on rateable value (a 
one-off payment):

Rateable Value Grant
£1-£15,000 £4,000
£15,001-£50,999 £6,000
£51,000+ £9,000

£2,000,000 
paid to 432 
eligible 
businesses

3.3.2 Since the start of November 2020, the council has paid out £4,117,598.85 
through 1,789 individual payments.

3.3.3 In order to qualify for any of the above grants, the applicant had to be the 
ratepayer at a property in Gravesham, the business must not have 
permanently ceased trading and the amount of support awarded must not 
exceed state aid/subsidy control limits.  All of the above grants were/are 
fully funded by the Government and if the level of funding is exceeded, this 
will be topped up.

Page 19



8

3.3.4 In addition to the Government grant schemes, there are also two types of 
discretionary grants which are administered by GBC on an ongoing basis:

 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Open) – can be applied for in the 
period when there is no national lockdown in place.  This grant is 
designed to support businesses that are allowed to open but have 
been severely impacted by the restrictions.

 Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) – applied from 05 November 
onwards and can be used to support any business (open or closed), 
irrespective of whether or not they are a ratepayer.  This support can 
be given directly to businesses in the form of a grant or indirectly 
through wider business support activities.  The council has developed 
its own policy in respect of the distribution of the discretionary grants.  
The funding for the ARG is a fixed sum (although this has recently 
been topped up) and is intended to provide support until 31 March 
2022.

3.3.5 It is anticipated that the grants will continue for sometime and will continue 
to be administered by the council.

3.4 Test and Trace Support

3.4.1 From November 2020, the council has been supporting the national Test 
and Trace process by contacting those who have tested positive for 
COVID but have been uncontactable by the national service and Kent 
County Council.  Processes have been put in place to review council 
systems for additional contact information and where possible, offiers have 
contacted residents directly to obtain the required information for Test and 
Trace.  Where contact details have not been sourced, door knocks have 
taken place, although with the introduction of the national lockdown on 4 
January 2021, the door-knocking process has been suspended.  Up to the 
end of January 2021, the council has received 79 referrals from KCC.

3.4.2 The council has also been required to administer Test and Trace Support 
payments for those residents who are required to self-isolate due to a 
positive COVID test or have been advised to self-isolate by the NHS:

 A mandatory scheme was introduced by Government with all local 
authorities required to administer the payments from 12 October 2020 
at the latest.  Anyone who had been notified on or after 28 September 
2020 that they had to self-isolate able to make backdated claims where 
necessary.  The scheme was initially suggested to last until 31 January 
2021 however this has recently been extended until 31 March 2021.  
The scheme has been amended a number of times since its inception.  
To date, the council has been provided with £52,500 funding from the 
Government, although the Government has committed to covering all 
main scheme payments made by local authorities.

 In addition to the mandatory scheme that was put in place, this was 
supplemented with a discretionary scheme.  Each council has been 
able to determine its own specific eligibility criteria for the discretionary 
scheme.  The council recently reviewed this (19 January 2021) in 
response to additional funding for the scheme being provided by the 
government to support the scheme and also following a review of the 
eligibility criteria.  A total of £66,000 funding has been provided by 
Government to support this scheme with payment made on a ‘first 
come first served’ basis.

Page 20



9

 Payments made to date are as follows:

Scheme No. 
Applications

No. Grants Paid Total Paid

Mandatory 533 251 £125,000

Discretionary 323 31 £15,500

TOTAL 850 282 £141,000

 In addition to the funding provided by the Government in relation to the 
grant funding, a sum of just under £27,000 was also provided to assist 
with the administrative costs associated with setting up the schemes.

3.4.3 Similarly to the administration of the business grants scheme, it is 
anticipated that support provided to the test and Trace process will 
continue for a number of months.

3.5 Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) Residents

3.5.1 The council has continued to support those classed as Clinically Extremely 
Vulnerable through the second and third phase of lockdown.  Whilst the 
council did not stand back up the full process that was undertaken in the 
first phase of lockdown, all new referrals have had either a telephone call, 
text message or e-mail (wherever possible) to advise them of the support 
that the council has in place. 

3.5.2 In addition, the council has continued to operate its COVID Emergency 
Helpline to enable any resident in the borough to contact the council 
should they feel that they require support.  Following the announcement of 
the second and then third lockdown, there has been a significant increase 
in calls to this line which are being managed by the Customer Services 
Team.  Following only 17 calls in October 2020, this increased to 152 calls 
in November 2020, 120 calls in December 2020 and 154 calls in January 
2021.  The team has also continued to respond to e-mails received 
specifically in relation to COVID and between November 2020 and 
January 2021, the team responded to just over 900 e-mails.

3.6 Homelessness support services

3.6.1 The winter night shelter provisions were reviewed to mitigate the risk of 
Covid-19. Officers worked with local community groups to open ten 
bedroom HMO, so rough sleepers could have their own rooms.  As a result 
of the most recent lockdown, officers worked with Gravesham Sanctuary to 
enable rough sleepers to remain in the property throughout the day. 

3.6.2 Council officers have successful maximised opportunities to bring 
additional funding into the service, this has enabled the Council to continue 
to accommodate and resettle rough sleepers. 

Page 21



10

3.7 Supporting the NHS Vaccination programme

3.7.1 Most recently the council has been working with colleagues from the Kent 
Community Health NHS Foundation Trust (KCHFT) to open a mass 
vaccination centre at The Woodville, the second of its type to open in Kent.  
This opened on 02 February 2021 and will see residents who live within 45 
minutes of the centre being vaccinated.  To support this, the council is 
offering an hour’s free parking for those attending the vaccination centre in 
a designated area of Parrock Street car park 

3.8 The council’s experiences following the first phase of lockdown in March 2020, 
has undoubtedly enabled the council to prepare for the additional pressures that 
the second and third national lockdown have brought upon all local authorities.

4. Maintaining council services

4.1 Despite the council having to divert resources to the pandemic and responding to 
ongoing requirements from central Government, the council has continued to 
deliver services to the public and maintain performance across its services:

 Working in close partnership with Kent Police, the council oversaw a 10% 
reduction in reported crime offences in the borough against the same 
period in 2019/20.

 Despite the challenges presented by the economic fall-out of COVID the 
council’s Revenues and Benefits service maintained its strong performance 
averaging 12.8 days for the processing of all new Housing Benefit claims, 
considerably ahead of comparative national and Kent averages (17 and 16 
days respectively).  In addition, claims for the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme have continued to be processed promptly with an average of 18.4 
days against a target of 20 days, despite the increased workload.

 Operating in the face of a dramatic increase in waste tonnage produced during 
social lockdown, the council achieved its highest ever rate of household 
recycling (45%), whilst delivering 99.8% of all scheduled bin collections 
in the borough.

 Adapting to the logistical challenges presented by COVID, the council 
completed 100% of emergency repairs on time to households in the 
borough. This is in addition to all routine repairs also being completed within 
set timescales.

 A significant improvement in the processing of planning application times. In 
the first quarter of 2020-21, 100% of major applications and 94.5% of non-
major applications were processed inside set government targets, 
increasing to 100% for both categories in quarter two.

 Despite a significant upturn in demand for its services, and the challenges 
presented by the new working environment for its officers, there was a 40% 
reduction in corporate complaints received by the council.

 In its commitment to tackling the sizeable levels of health inequality in the 
borough, 770 people achieved a target outcome from the Gr@nd’s healthy 
living services.

 Importantly for the council’s suppliers, the council has maintained the payment 
of 100% of all valid and undisputed invoices within 30 days.

Page 22



11

4.2 The collection rates for council tax and business rates have been maintained, 
which is a credit to both the council and residents/businesses in the borough.  At 
the end of January 2021, 91.25% of council tax had been collected, compared 
to 93.1% at this time last year and 91.09% of business rates has been 
collected compared to 91.19% in January 2020.  It is estimated that nationally, 
collection rates are down by an average of 2% for council tax and 8% for business 
rates.

4.3 In addition to the statistical performance data highlighted, the council has also 
continued to deliver against key corporate and strategic projects:

 The Charter Regeneration Project 
The council has continued to work with Rosherville Property Development 
Limited and the Reef Group to progress The Charter development in the town 
centre.  The planning application was approved in December 2020 with works 
due to commence on site in the Spring 2021.

 Lower Thames Crossing
In response to the Development Consent Order (DCO) submitted by Highways 
England, the council provided a detailed response in order to raise concerns 
regarding the public consultation that was undertaken.  This resulted in the 
DCO being withdrawn, following early consideration by the Planning 
Inspectorate. 

 Climate Change Actions
The council has continued to deliver on its Climate Change pledge and in 
December 2020, produced its first Annual Report to provide an update to both 
Members and the public on the actions that the council has, and will continue 
to take to tackle climate change issues in the borough.

4.4 Performance continues to be monitored each quarter by the council’s 
Management Team, Cabinet and the Cabinet Committees to ensure performance 
continues to be maintained and any potential areas of concern are identified at an 
early stage.

5. GBC Operational Activities

5.1 Whilst there has been, and continues to be, a vast array of activities being 
undertaken by the council in response to the needs of residents and businesses in 
the borough, there has also been a significant amount of activity affecting the 
internal operations of the council.

5.2 Staff health and Well-being

5.2.1 In response to the pandemic, GBC staff have demonstrated immense 
resilience in their ability to continue to provide services to the public.  They 
have also provided support to not only their individual teams and 
departments, but across the council through the corporate approach that 
has been taken to the COVID initiatives that have required implementation.

Page 23



12

5.2.2 It has however, been critically important to ensure that staff have been 
thoroughly supported through this extremely challenging time and the 
council has put in place a number of measures to address this:

 Changes to our overall HR processes to support staff
 Guidance notes and FAQs were sent to all employees 

regarding testing, reporting procedures etc. and these have 
continued to be updated and circulated as government policy 
has changed.  

 Changes have been made to the amount of annual leave 
officers are allowed to ‘carry forward’ into the new financial year 
for the next two years.

 The Homeworking/Remote Working policy is in the process of 
being updated to reflect the current working conditions to 
ensure these are consistently applied for the future.

 Sickness due to COVID is not taken into account when 
assessing absence from work i.e. if an officer were to hit one of 
the specific sickness levels in the council’s policy, this would 
not ‘trigger’ a review if it were related to COVID.  Sick pay has 
also not been affected due to COVID.

 The Lone Working Policy was reviewed whilst employees are 
home working and the Flexi-time Policy was relaxed regarding 
working within core hours to support employees with 
dependents and caring responsibilities.  

 Finally, for new employees the impact of COVID has been 
taken into account in probationary reviews, as it is recognised 
that they may not have had the full support required due to 
home working.

 Staff surveys to identify any concerns
 Since the start of the pandemic, three staff surveys have been 

undertaken and the responses received have been largely 
positive.  Concerns highlighted were mainly regarding 
equipment issues (at the start of the pandemic), health & safety 
due to office set up and home, contact with line manager and 
general wellbeing.  Management Team addressed these 
concerns and appropriate action was taken, which was 
noticeable in feedback from subsequent questionnaires.

 Support provided to officers in terms of health and well-being
 At the start of the pandemic HR arranged a weekly timetable of 

events/seminars to encourage both physical and mental 
wellbeing.

 Care First have provided a weekly timetable of webinars to 
support employees and Managers which mainly concentrated 
on the effects of the pandemic.

 Weekly virtual coffee ‘catch ups’ were held during the first 
lockdown with all employees as well as a staff Facebook page 
being set up to enable employees to have social contact with 
their colleagues.

Page 24



13

5.2.3 The Trade Unions were consulted on the temporary amendments to 
policies and frequently asked questions prior to being circulated to 
employees.  The Human Resources department have been working 
closely with the Trade Unions regarding employees individual concerns 
relating to PPE, employee welfare, health & safety and amicable 
resolutions were found, although we have had very few concerns raised.  
The Trade Unions have welcomed the social events that Human 
Resources have arranged for all employees.

5.2.4 Staff health and well-being continues to be a priority of the council and 
activities in this area will continue throughout the pandemic period and 
beyond.

5.3 Review of the implementation of home-working

5.3.1 COVID-19 has seen a major culture-shift for the council with a significant 
proportion of officers now working from home. Before the pandemic there 
was approximately 25% of the office workforce enabled to work remotely, 
with only a few these regularly connecting.  By the end of June 2020 
approximately 75% of the office workforce were enabled to work remotely, 
with a large proportion of these connecting every day.

5.3.2 In order to achieve this, the IT team have completed a major rollout of 
software and equipment to officers across the council to enable them to 
continue to work. This included the procurement, setup and distribution of 
new laptop devices, the deployment of a new two-factor authentication 
system to ensure council systems remained secure, introduction of a new 
Virtual Private Network system to provide increased capacity to council 
systems from home, and the introduction of new telephony software to 
allow the contact centre to work remotely.

5.3.3 The IT team also enabled a large move over to video conferencing so 
officers and Members could continue conducting meetings. This involved 
installation of equipment in meeting rooms and the Council Chamber, the 
distribution and setup of new video conferencing software, and 
collaboration with Committee Services and the Digital Team to evaluate, 
deploy and operate a new procedure for running Committee Meetings.

5.3.4 It is important that we not only recognise this huge task but also review the 
way in which this was completed, and is currently operating, in order to 
learn from this experience.

5.3.5 A Home-working Task and Finish Group, made up of officers of the 
council, has been established.  The purpose of the group is to put in place 
additional support and training for officers and managers during the lock 
down period and to up-date the council’s homeworking policies for the 
future.  This is to understand as a Council, how we wish to operate in the 
future with regard to flexible working, ensuring that we retain the best 
aspects of flexible working, but also providing the best possible service to 
our residents.

Page 25



14

5.4 Member engagement

5.4.1 Members have also been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and have 
had to change the way in which they work with the introduction of virtual 
meetings and a number of committee meetings cancelled.  Members have 
responded well to these changes and the use of virtual meeting platforms, 
such as Zoom and GoTo, have been successful with Members adapting to 
the new way of hosting and attending public meetings well.

5.4.2 It was felt that it would be prudent to obtain the views of Members, through 
the Leaders of the respective political parties, in order to identify any 
potential areas for future improvement.  Feedback received from Members 
has been very supportive of officers and the way in which the council was 
able to respond immediately to the announcement regarding the 
pandemic.  Specific areas highlighted by Members were the way in which 
the council communicated with residents to keep them informed of the 
overall response to the pandemic and general support available to them, 
as well as the support put in place for vulnerable people.

5.5 Future business continuity planning

5.5.1 The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (CCA) places a statutory duty on all 
category 1 responders to have business continuity plans in place to ensure 
they can continue to deliver critical services during times of disruption. This 
duty relates to all functions, not just emergency response functions.

5.5.2 The Business Continuity Management system that is currently in place 
covers the council’s critical services, including the activities and their 
dependencies, which are required to continue service delivery to the 
community. It covers all council departments that either provide these key 
services and/or support the critical dependencies.  Additionally where 
services are outsourced or where contracts for critical suppliers have been 
established, those who are responsible for the management of these 
services, are encouraged through best practice, to make sure that 
appropriate business continuity measures are included within agreements.  
This is to ensure that the activity or service provision can continue to be 
delivered during times of disruption.

5.5.3 The Business Continuity Plans that are embedded corporately are based 
on an initial 3-day maximum tolerability time period, which allows Senior 
Management time to review the disruption, activate the necessary Action 
Plans for critical services and to put measures in place for an event with a 
longer disruption period.  Additional departmental Business Continuity 
Plans have also been drawn up in recent years to cover longer – drawn 
out events that take place over a long period of time.  This additional work 
was predominantly put in place for the original Brexit transition phases and 
has also been invaluable for dealing with the initial effects of Covid-19.  

5.5.4 This robust approach to Business Continuity planning, which has been 
enhanced in recent years, has undoubtedly prepared council departments 
in their response to the pandemic.  This has been particularly prevalent in 
relation to the large proportion of staff being required to work form home at 
very short notice, as well as having various systems in place which could 
be activated to help mitigate the effects of the pandemic on local services 
and the community in its widest sense.

Page 26



15

5.5.5 In terms of future work, senior management are being asked to ensure that 
individual directorates/departments update their own service area plans on 
a regular basis, in order to make sure they are up to date in terms of 
personnel and the services that they provide and to encourage ‘ownership’ 
of these plans amongst the teams themselves. Regular testing of plans will 
also be looked at in the future as well as additional training amongst staff 
members via the Kent Resilience Forum.

6. Involvement with the Kent Resilience Forums

6.1 The KRF is a partnership of organisations and agencies who work together to 
improve the resilience of Kent and Medway, and to ensure a coordinated 
response to emergencies that could have a significant impact on local 
communities.

6.2 In addition to the specific work streams that were undertaken by council officers, 
there was a significant amount of activity and engagement on a daily basis with 
the Kent Resilience Forum.

6.3 In terms of the Covid-19 response, this included officers from GBC being involved 
in the Command and Control structures that were put in place for the Kent and 
Medway area in order to deal with the major emergency at both a strategic and 
tactical level.  This also included involvement in a number of associated sub-
groups, such as the Vulnerable Persons and Communities Cell and the 
Procurement and Logistics Cell.

6.4 At the height of the emergency response, there was significant involvement by 
council officers with multiple dial-in’s/ meetings twice a day, as well as additional 
sub-group meetings. This put considerable strain on the council’s resources, as 
internal meetings and subsequent other group dial-in meetings were taking place, 
especially at a Senior Management level.  The activities were however, shared 
between the Senior Management Team of the council in order to provide 
resilience across the council.

7. Next Steps and future workstreams

7.1 The COVID-19 pandemic is still affecting the borough of Gravesham, and the 
entire country, and as such it is necessary for the council to continue to be 
responsive to the needs of its community, as well as supporting officers and 
Members alike.

7.2 The outcomes of the various strands of the review have demonstrated that the 
council has taken a very proactive approach to the pandemic and this continues to 
be at the forefront of thinking for Members, Management Team and council 
officers.  The findings from this review have helped to inform processes and 
procedures which have had to continue to be used in response to the ongoing 
pandemic.

7.3 At the time of writing, as there continue to be encouraging signs that the worst of 
the pandemic is now behind us, the Council’s attentions have increasingly been 
turning to recovery actions in order to support the community, local businesses 
and the Borough more generally.

Page 27



16

7.4 These recovery actions have, and will continue to be, the subject of separate 
reports as they are developed, and comprise elements such as the Economic 
Stimulus package announced alongside the Council’s annual budget, the 
Council‘s involvement (both as an employer itself and coordinator on behalf of 
local businesses) in the Kickstart employment programme for young people within 
the Borough and additional apprenticeships and career graded posts.  
Furthermore, a review of support for voluntary and community sector 
organisations has been undertaken to ensure the Council’s funds are directed to 
those organisations providing direct support to the wider community and those in 
need.  

7.5 Delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions remains a key priority, with 
many of these initiatives directly or indirectly contributing to the economic, social 
and health wellbeing of the Borough’s residents.  With this in mind, a review of the 
resources deployed in each area of the Council will be undertaken to ensure those 
limited resources are deployed in the most effective way to deliver on the 
Corporate Plan objectives given that the COVID pandemic has in so many ways 
changed the way we operate as a Council.

7.6 Collectively these actions, form part of a comprehensive package of measures 
designed to support residents, businesses and visitors of the Borough as we seek 
to restore the damage caused by the pandemic over the past year and continue 
our work towards delivering a Gravesham to be proud of.

8. Background papers

8.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Corporate Change 
Manager.  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, 
be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 28



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal In response to the pandemic, the Government put in place the Coronavirus Act 
2020 as well as updating the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 and other 
key health-related regulations.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Specifically in relation to the council’s own budgets, updates have been provided in 
the quarterly budget reports that have been presented to and reviewed by Cabinet 
over the course of the year.
In relation to funding specifically for COVID, the council has received funding from 
central Government in two key areas:

 Specific grants have been provided to enable the council to administer the 
schemes put in place by the Government, such as the various Business Grants 
schemes that have been put in place.

 The council has also received c.£1.8m of non-ring fenced funding from the 
Ministry of Communities, Housing and Local Government (MHCLG) to help 
meet the unprecedented pressures resulting from the pandemic.

Risk Assessment The COVID-19 pandemic presented, and continues to present, significant risks for 
the council, particularly in terms of delivery of critical services to the public.  As has 
been demonstrated through this report, the council’s overall response to the 
pandemic has enabled those services to continue to operate effectively.
The pandemic also presented risks to the Gravesham community, both residents 
and businesses.  The council has been able to support both groups in minimising 
these risks by ensuring prompt payments of grants and allowances to support them 
through this tough time.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 29

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


18

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The way in which the council has responded to the pandemic has ensured that 
services have continued to operate effectively, which is fundamental to the delivery 
of all objectives within the Corporate Plan.

Climate Change There are no specific Climate Change implications resulting from this report.  
However, the Climate Change impact is being considered in key pieces of work, 
particularly in respect of the review of the council’s remote working arrangements.

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting form this report.  It is 
Clearly the council needed to continue to work with Kent police in responding to the 
pandemic and maintaining order across the borough which has been demonstrated 
in the crime performance statistics.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no specific digital or website implications resulting from this report.  The 
council has used its website and other digital channels to improve accessibility of 
services for the customer and ensure information is provided in a timely and 
consistent manner.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Specific activities, such as the support provided to those deemed as Clinically 
Extremely Vulnerable, setting up a specific helpline and the ability to work with key 
partners throughout the pandemic has ensured that safeguarding of children and 
vulnerable adults has continued to be at the heart of all council activities.

Page 30



Appendix Two
- Summary Of Recommendations

Supporting Vulnerable 
People

Business Grants Approach to Rough Sleepers Council tax Support Social media and 
communications

Clarity of information
Whist recognised that, in this 
project, some of this was out of 
the council’s control, there is a 
need to ensure there is clarity 
across departments with 
regards to processes. The clear 
example highlighted here is the 
allocation of food boxes and 
confusion between the role of 
the officers making phone calls 
and Customer Services when 
allocating the supplies. In future 
projects or should there be a 
need to resurrect this project, 
clear guidance to support 
officers in their roles is advised.

Implementing a mechanism 
to enable all interested 
parties to be updated on 
project developments.  
In this case, engaging with the 
Digital Team at all stages of the 
project to make the publication 
of information on the web 
timelier.  This is something that 
should be considered in future 
projects in order to ensure 
information is disseminated to 
all officers as required.

Governance
Should a project of this nature 
be required again, ensuring 
clear governance structures, 
both within the council and with 
external partners is key so as to 
understand roles and 
responsibilities and reporting 
lines. This will be a key 
consideration for all future 
projects

Availability of Guidance
Wherever possible, guidance 
should be provided to all 
officers who are involved in a 
project to ensure that all officers 
are equally well-informed about 
the processes that are due to 
take place.

It is recognised with the COVID 
response this was not possible 
at the beginning but as a 
learning point for other projects 
moving forward, this is 
something that should be 
undertaken.

Gravesham Branding and 
Promotional Material
The council produced many 
varied messages which held the 
branding of Gravesham 
Borough council and as 
detailed, provided a ‘trusted 
brand’ for the community. This 
is something that should be 
followed should there be a 
national requirement for 
communications of messages 
again.

Also, explore the use of 
alternative methods for 
communicating such as video 
messages/Podcasts from the 
Leader and other key 
figureheads to provide an 
alternative method of 
communication.

Review ‘risk appetite’ in the 
process
The level of phone calls made 
was high and it is recognised 
that, particularly towards the 
end of the lockdown, a large 
number of calls were made 

Production of guides/online 
tools to aide those involved 
and affected by the project.
In future projects, consideration 
should be given to ensuring 
information is provided to those 
involved in the project in a way, 
which simplifies things for 

Communication
For future projects, there is a 
need to engage with all parties 
to ensure they have a full 
understating of their specific 
requirements in the project – a 
‘no surprises’ approach.

Implementation of a 
Corporate Working Log
It is recognised that the remote 
working log was a success 
within the Revenues & Benefits 
Team. Consideration should be 
given to the potential of a 
similar log to be implemented 

Use of Social Media
Undertaking proper and through 
evaluation of all future requests 
for social media posts to ensure 
they are considered ‘in the 
round’ i.e. in line with other 
promotional campaigns and 

P
age 31



20

Supporting Vulnerable 
People

Business Grants Approach to Rough Sleepers Council tax Support Social media and 
communications

which were not necessary (in 
the eyes of customers).

This was reviewed part way 
through and the ratings were 
amended.

Moving forward, either with a 
second phase of this project or 
in other council projects, the 
recognition of the need to 
review these types of 
measures, as was undertaken 
as part of this project, is an 
important learning point.

officers.  Determination of 
whether this should be through 
a specific ‘guide’ or through an 
online tool will be dependent on 
the nature of the project,

Ensuring the council uses all of 
its communication tools is 
something to also be 
considered – website, social 
media etc. to ensure messages 
are communicate din the best 
way to the majority of people.

on a corporate level (potentially 
working with the Digital Team) 
to enable officers to know the 
working patterns of colleagues 
and how to contact them 
moving forward.

This action to be raised with the 
Homeworking Task and Finish 
Group as a potential 
improvement moving forward, 
given the potential for 
home/remote working to be 
continued in the future.

messages that are being 
progressed by the council.

Internal communications and 
contact
Given the nature of the calls, 
implement more regular officer 
briefings/catch-ups through 
wither virtual meetings or on-
site. Given social distancing 
requirements, not all officers 
may have been able to attend 
an onsite meeting but ensuring 
regular contact is made with 
officers to give the opportunity 
to discuss any issues or 
concerns they have would be 
useful.

Whilst an emergency centre 
was set up, officers were not 
keen to work from a central 
point. If in fact they had, it 

Communication
Ensure that wherever possible, 
face-to-face meetings are used 
to convey instructions or 
guidance so that there is a 
consistent approach used by 
staff.  This coupled with the 
production of guidelines/online 
tools will help to ensure all 
officers involved in projects fully 
understand what is required.

Policies
It is necessary to review and 
update council policies as a 
result of the pandemic to 
ensure that the Council’s 
policies address the priorities of 
the area. This includes the 
Housing Allocations Policy but 
cuts across all council services 
both internal and external. 
There may be a need to 
prioritise these but this is an 
action that should be taken 
across the council.

Multi-lingual Approach 
In future projects where a 
borough-wide communication 
plan is required, consideration 
needs to be given to providing 
information is alternative 
languages, tailored to the needs 
of residents in specific areas. 

P
age 32



21

Supporting Vulnerable 
People

Business Grants Approach to Rough Sleepers Council tax Support Social media and 
communications

would have helped to some 
degree with the dissemination 
of information

Allocation of staff resources
From a management 
perspective, there is a need to 
be clear on what is required 
from officers and how their 
‘usual’ tasks can be supported if 
they are seconded onto a 
corporate project of this nature. 
It would appear that there has 
been an inconsistent approach 
to this across the council and 
this needs to be ‘joined-up’ in 
future projects. Consideration 
also needs to be given to the 
impact on officers who are 
potentially taking on additional 
workload to enable the 
secondment to take place.

My Business Account
Review the current progress 
that is being made is rolling out 
the ‘My Business Account’ 
facility out to businesses in the 
borough.  Consideration to 
extending this facility to enable 
businesses to sign up to the 
Economic Development mailing 
lists at the same time but also 
the potential for smaller 
businesses, such as those that 
are home-based businesses or 
those in managed workspaces, 
being able to access the site for 
useful information.

Business Continuity
A review of business continuity 
plans should be undertaken by 
all council services to ensure 
that key learning points from the 
COVID experience can be 
taken into account. Ann overall 
strategic review of Business 
Continuity is being undertaken, 
and departments will need to 
ensure they take an active role 
and implement changes 
required.

Workplace Skills Analysis
It would be useful to understand 
the skills that are in place 
across the organisation to 
assist in this, and future 
projects moving forward. There 
is a tendency for the same 
officers to be called upon for 
specific tasks (the point 
highlighted here is regards to 
Finance and their skills with 

P
age 33



22

Supporting Vulnerable 
People

Business Grants Approach to Rough Sleepers Council tax Support Social media and 
communications

spreadsheets) and there are 
likely to be others across the 
council who possess the same 
or similar skills and would be 
able to assist.

Equipment for officers
Ensuring that staff have the 
right equipment to enable them 
to undertake the tasks required 
is key. As identified through the 
feedback, things such as mobile 
phones, headsets for officers 
and ensuring connectivity 
through IT equipment is key. 
This will potentially be picked 
up as well through the remote 
working workstream that is 
currently underway.

One suggestion for taking this 
forward is, should this type of 
project occur again, have a 
specific work space set up at 
the Council for officers to work 
from (such as the Council 
Chamber), so all equipment is 
provided. Whilst useful for 
some, under COVID this may 
not have been suitable for all 
but would provide an additional 
workspace away from the 
office.

P
age 34



23

Supporting Vulnerable 
People

Business Grants Approach to Rough Sleepers Council tax Support Social media and 
communications

Implementation of welfare 
checks
Given the nature of the calls 
that officers were being asked 
to make, it would be beneficial 
to implement regular welfare 
calls with those officer directly 
involve din the project. Some of 
the calls were very difficult for 
officers and whilst all dealt with 
these with professionalism and 
compassion, specific phone 
calls to officers to discuss their 
personal welfare would be 
beneficial if this were to take 
place again.

P
age 35



Page 36



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 22 February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive and Michelle Batstone, 
Corporate Change Manager

Subject: LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Update and Follow-up 
Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update against the recommendations made by the LGA as part 
of their review in October 2019 and to set out the arrangements for a follow-up review by the 
Peer Challenge Team in March 2021.

Recommendations:
Members are asked to note the progress made in respect of the agreed action plan and the 
arrangements for the follow-up review in March 2021.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019, the council welcomed a Peer Challenge Team onsite in order for 
them to undertake a Corporate Peer Challenge of the council.  The team were 
onsite for three days (between 15 October and 17 October) and undertook a 
number of interviews and focus groups with various officers, Members, residents 
and external partners of the organisation.

1.2 The purpose of the Peer Challenge was to focus on the five core areas of 
business that make up a Peer Challenge:
1.2.1 understanding of the local place and priority setting
1.2.2 leadership of place
1.2.3 financial planning and viability
1.2.4 organisational leadership and governance
1.2.5 capacity to deliver

1.3 In addition, the team were also asked to consider additional areas of scope 
identified by the council, in the areas of housing and housing delivery and 
planning and the planning service.

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2

1.4 Following the review, the LGA Peer Challenge Team presented their findings and 
made a number of recommendations which were developed into an action plan for 
the council.  This was subsequently approved by the Cabinet at its meeting on 03 
February 2020.

1.5 Since this date, despite the added pressures that have been brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, officers have continued to progress actions against the 
recommendations and an update on the action plan is provided at appendix two.

1.6 Progress against the recommendations can be summarised as follows:

 12 completed recommendations

 15 currently underway with actions for completion identified

2. LGA Peer Challenge Follow-up Review

2.1 In presenting the final report to the council, the LGA confirmed that the Peer 
Challenge process includes a follow-up review.  The purpose of the follow-up 
review is to assess the progress the Council has made against the areas of 
improvement and development identified by the Peer team.

2.2 As a result of the COVID pandemic, the LGA are not undertaking onsite follow-up 
reviews.  They are however piloting ‘virtual follow-up reviews’ and Gravesham will 
be one of the first authorities to go through the virtual follow-up process.

2.3 The review will take place on 09 March 2021 for one day and will be a lighter-
touch version of the original visit. There will be an initial briefing with the Leader 
and Chief Executive on the morning of the review and all interviews and meetings 
will take place over the course of the day.

2.4 The Peer Challenge Team will consist of the same Member and Chief Executive 
Peer. Unfortunately, the same Officer Peer is not available, but an alternative has 
been identified by the LGA.  As such, the Peer Review Team will be:

 Neil Taylor, Chief Executive, Bassetlaw District Council

 Cllr Michael Payne, Deputy Leader of Gedling Borough Council

 Patsy Dell, Director, Hertfordshire Growth - Hertfordshire County Council

 Angela Kawa, Peer Challenge Manager and Programme Manager for LGA 
London & South East

2.5 The preparation for the review is a lot more light-touch than the full review.  There 
is no requirement for a self-assessment.  Documents required will include:

 Latest update against the recommendations/action plan.

 Any supporting documents or policies that have been developed as a result of 
the actions identified.

 Copy of the Budget

Page 38



3

3. Next Steps

3.1 A schedule of interviews is in the process of being developed and will be finalised 
ahead of the virtual review on 09 March 2021.

3.2 Following the completion of the review, a formal feedback session will be held two 
weeks after the virtual review has been completed.  This will give the Peer 
Challenge Team time to digest their findings and formulate their conclusions.  A 
formal feedback session will be held with the Council on 23 March 2021.

3.3 A short report will be produced by the LGA; there is an expectation from the LGA 
that the Council will publish this on its website.  

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Cabinet – 03 February 2020 - LGA Peer Challenge Report and Action Plan

Page 39



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is no legal requirement to undertake a Peer Challenge.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There is no specific financial cost associated with the Peer Challenge follow-up 
process.  There may be a need for additional resources in order to complete 
specific actions resulting from the follow-up process and these will be addressed at 
the appropriate time as necessary.

Risk Assessment There are no risks associated with the Peer Challenge follow-up process.  The 
follow-up review will assess the progress the council has made in addressing the 
recommendations previously identified and provide additional support/suggestions 
as necessary.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the agreed action plan made specific reference to expanding the way in 
which the council promotes its job vacancies with a view to ensuring these are 
visible for all community groups within the borough

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The Peer Challenge was a review of the council in its entirety and as such, has the 
potential to impact on the delivery of all objectives as set out in the council’s 
Corporate Plan.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Page 40

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no specific digital and website implications resulting from the report.  The 
council will however, be required to publish the findings from the follow-up review 
on its website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  

Gravesham Borough Council               
- Progress against the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Key Recommendations       February 2021 

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Embed regular Cabinet and Management Team joint working by creating time and space for discussion on strategy, expectations and 
key issues. For example, more joint meetings and away days 

1.  To agree with the Leader of 
the Executive an approach to 
ensuring more joint working 
is undertaken across the 
Cabinet and Management 
Team. 

Chief Executive April 2020 Weekly private meetings are held between the Chief Executive 
and the Leader (on a Thursday).  In addition, weekly meetings are 
also held between the Chief Executive, the Directors (on a rota 
basis) and the Leader (on a Monday) to ensure that the Leader is 
kept abreast of activities across all aspects of the council.  These 
have proven to be useful and productive on all levels. 
Regular portfolio holder update meetings continue to be held 
between the Directors and the respective Cabinet Members.  In 
addition, invites have also been extended to the Shadow Cabinet 
Members should they wish to meet with the Directors to discuss 
their respective portfolios. 
Action: there is still a need to establish formal Away days with the 
Cabinet Members; these have been delayed due to the council’s 
need to respond to the pandemic.  Moving forward the intention is 
to put these in place to facilitate strategic joint working. 

Appendix Tw
o 

P
age 43



2 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

2.  Develop a corporate project 
plan to maintain an overview 
of the significant number of 
corporate projects underway, 
to form the basis of the joint-
working/away days. 

Chief Executive April 2020 COMPLETED 
A Corporate Delivery Plan was drawn up at the start of the 
financial year which forms the backbone for the 1-2-1 meetings 
between the Chief Executive and the Directors.  This also provides 
a framework for providing updates to the Leader as well resulting 
in positive news stories for Gravesham. 
As detailed above, away days have yet to be established but when 
they are, the Corporate Delivery Plan will support the direction and 
discussions accordingly. 

3.  Implement a calendar of 
away days to focus on 
corporate projects as a 
Leadership Team (six-
monthly). 

Chief Executive June 2020 
onwards 

As a result of the COVID pandemic, away days for the Leadership 
Team have yet to be established.  The monthly 1-2-1’s between 
the Chief Executive and Directors do focus on corporate projects 
and there are also monthly catch-ups for the Directors, which the 
Chief Executive is invited to attend, to discuss corporate issues as 
a Leadership Team. 
Action: Away days for the Leadership Team will be established to 
assist in the facilitation of strategic joint working, once it is 
appropriate to do so. 

 
  

P
age 44



3 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Introduce a clear improvement plan for Planning, which is jointly developed and owned by Cabinet and Management Team, to establish 
clear targets and deadlines for improvement. This should include member training about their role in planning, inviting in the Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) and improving processes and procedures 

4.  Complete the internal 
business process review 
project that is currently 
underway within the planning 
service. 

Director (Planning 
& Development) 

June 2020 The internal business process review was commenced towards 
the end of the 2019 calendar year. As a result of the COVID 
pandemic and the changes to working practices across council 
services, the review was not able to progress as had originally 
been planned. 
A number of suggestions resulting from the review have been 
shared with the Chief Executive, which are being considered and, 
where appropriate will be progressed through structural changes 
that are in the process of being reviewed for the Planning 
department.  The development of a service improvement plan will 
be taken into account as part of this review and the forthcoming 
structural changes. 

5.  Develop a service 
improvement plan as part of 
the internal business process 
review process and include 
provisions for subsequent 
monitoring and review. 

Director (Planning 
& Development) 

August 
2020 

P
age 45



4 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

6.  Member Training – explore 
the opportunities presented 
from the Planning Advisory 
Service in respect of the 
training opportunities. 

Director (Planning 
& Development) 

March 2020 Training for Members specifically in relation to Planning has been 
impacted by COVID but options are being explored for moving this 
forward, possibly in a more ‘virtual’ form.   
There have been a number of Member Briefings in the past 12 
months in relation to significant planning/regeneration schemes 
that are coming forward. These have included presentations on 
The Charter, St George’s and Albion Waterside.  These events 
have been used to raise awareness of planning with the wider 
Member body across the council and has been used to clearly set 
out the responsibility of Members when considering planning 
applications. 
A separate training session was also provide by the LGA in 
January 2021 to provide an overview and real-life experience for 
Members in terms of roles and responsibilities when appointed to 
an outside body.   
Action: continue to explore options for Member Training. 

 
  

P
age 46



5 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Develop greater partnership working. Gravesham has been very self-sufficient, but to tackle some of the bigger issues it needs to develop 
greater partnership working to deliver on key priorities such as housing. 

7.  Forge new relationships with 
key partner organisations – 
Homes England, the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities & 
Local Government (MHCLG) 
etc. in order to work together 
on the development of sites 
within the borough. 

Chief Executive 
Director (Planning 
& Development) 

February 
2020 
onwards 

COMPLETED 
The Chief Executive and the Director (Planning & Development) 
have set up a series of meetings with key partner agencies in 
order to boost the profile of Gravesham and to try and leverage the 
necessary infrastructure funding to support development in the 
borough. 
Recent engagement with Paul Kitson (Director of High Growth and 
New Settlements) at Homes England, facilitated by the Thames 
Estuary Growth Board Envoy (Kate Willard) has opened up a 
useful dialogue in an effort to bring forward stalled development in 
the Canal Basin and North-East Gravesend area. 
Similar discussions have also been undertaken with the London 
Resort and Lower Thames Crossing teams  to ensure that there 
are synergies in those developments that maximise the benefits 
for Gravesham and unlock growth. 

P
age 47



6 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

8.  Ensure a dedicated 
grants/bidding resource is in 
place to assist the 
progression of projects, both 
internally and with partners, 
in terms of sourcing grant-
funding opportunities. 

Chief Executive April 2020 Agreement has been reached to recruit to a specific post to 
support the council is identifying and accessing potential grants/ 
funding opportunities; this post will sit within the Finance Team. 
There have been a number of changes within the Finance team 
with the previous Assistant Director assuming the Director 
(Corporate Services) role, which has meant recruitment has been 
required to the Assistant Director post within the Finance Team; 
this was filled in November 2020.  This, coupled with the current 
recruitment process for a new Principal Accountant (Special 
Projects) role has meant the recruitment to the grant funding post 
has been delayed. 
However, it is anticipated that an advert for this new post will be 
posted by the end of February 2021 and subject to a suitable 
candidate being identified, the post being filled in the new financial 
year.   

9.  Engage with the Thames 
Estuary Envoy to ensure a 
collaborative approach to this 
project and to develop a 
strong relationship with this 
partnership. 

Chief Executive February 
2020 
onwards 

COMPLETED 
The Chief Executive has implemented regular meetings with Kate 
Willard, the Thames Estuary Envoy.   
As a result of this connection, communication channels have been 
opened up with Homes England. 
The meetings have been productive and facilitated discussions 
with central Government departments. 

 

P
age 48



7 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Seize on the cross-party consensus on the need for the Council to be pro-active in relation to housing delivery in Gravesham, including 
putting its argument strongly to government.    

10.  Regular Member briefings to 
all parties regarding the 
housing delivery targets for 
the borough (linking to the 
Local Plan) to ensure all 
Members are informed about 
the council’s position. 

Director (Planning 
& Development) 

February 
2020 
onwards 

COMPLETED 
The housing delivery target is set out in the Councils Local Plan 
Core Strategy 2014 and thus has not yet changed.  However, the 
Housing Delivery Plan was presented to Cabinet in September 
2019 with the associated action plan being considered by the 
Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee in November 2019.  A 
number of Local Plan reports have been presented to Cabinet and 
reference to delivery included in the context of New Homes Bonus 
in the Budget Monitoring reports.  The current Local Plan Partial 
Review, which extends the Plan period to 2036 will provide the 
context to new targets in the coming months. 
A “Presentation on current Government planning consultations” 
was taken to Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee on 28 
September 2020. This covered the White Paper and Technical 
Consultation which look at the future of planning and proposed 
changes to the standard method for assessing housing need 
respectively. 

P
age 49



8 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

11.  Liaise with the Thames 
Estuary Envoy to enable an 
argument to be put to 
government for investment in 
the area to support the 
communities’ already in place 
within Gravesham, to ensure 
GBC is set within the context 
of the Thames Estuary 
Growth Area. 

Chief Executive 
Director (Planning 
& Development) 

February 
2020 
onwards 

COMPLETED 
As set out under action point 7, the regular contact with the 
Thames Estuary Envoy has facilitated other conversations and 
with the support of the Thames Estuary Envoy, the council has 
been able to secure further investment in the area. 

12.  Improved liaison with the 
Kent and Medway Economic 
Partnership (KMEP), and the 
South East Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) to ensure 
a stronger focus on 
Gravesham and the growth 
areas within Kent. 

Chief Executive 
Director (Planning 
& Development) 

Ongoing A piece of work has been commissioned from an external 
consultant that seeks to establish the economic context of 
Gravesham relative to the South East Local Enterprise Partnership 
(SELEP) and the Kent and Medway Economic Partnership 
(KEMP). 
It is considered that this piece of work will set the foundations for 
Gravesham and the ability to leverage greater funding and support 
for Gravesham from relevant associations. 

13.  Liaison with the Kent 
Developers Group to forge 
stronger relationships with 
developers across the county 
by hosting a Group session 
and engaging with the private 
sector. 

Director (Planning 
& Development) 

March 2020 
and 
ongoing 

Liaising with Locate in Kent / Kent Developers’ Group has resulted 
in the introduction of a developer with plans to bring forward a 
scheme for the Canal Basin area.   
Plans to present to Members of the Kent Developer’s Group had to 
be postponed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and as 
yet, a date has not yet been set for this piece of work. 

 
 

P
age 50



9 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Be a spokesperson for the area. The Council should put itself at the forefront of telling the story of Gravesham’s proud history, vibrant and 
varied heritage – creating a local ‘brand’ to unlock development opportunities and investments.   

14.  Development of an Arts and 
Cultural Strategy for the 
borough ensuring this is 
developed with the 
community and 
communicated effectively. 

Director 
(Communities) 

September 
2020 

COMPLETED 
The Arts and Cultural Strategy for Gravesham was developed over 
the summer 2020 in collaboration with the Community and Leisure 
Cabinet Committee and was agreed at the meeting of the 
Committee on 15 September 2020. 

15.  Development of an external 
communications strategy to 
link to the council’s corporate 
projects, ensuring 
communication of key 
projects affecting the borough 
to the community. 

Communications 
Manager 

June 2020 COMPLETED 
Communications Strategy adopted by Cabinet in November 2020 
and published on council website. 

16.  Develop closer link between 
the Economic Development 
Team and the council’s 
Communications Team to 
ensure a ‘brand’ for 
Gravesham is developed. 

Director 
(Communities) 

September 
2020 

Work is underway in order to establish a ‘brand’ for Gravesham  
The Communications Team have been working with the Economic 
Development Team to develop a detailed communications plan, 
including actions to promote the borough over the forthcoming 12 
months.  The key focus of these activities is to further enhance the 
council’s brand in relation to economic stimulus and future 
regeneration projects. 
This work has not progressed as rapidly as originally anticipated 
as the Economic Development team have been actively involved 
in the provision of grants to businesses during the pandemic. 

 
 

P
age 51



10 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Develop an induction programme for the new Chief Executive, which includes joint sessions delivered by the Leader and Chief 
Executive to cascade key information and expectations from the Corporate Plan to staff 

17.  Ensure a thorough handover 
from the current Chief 
Executive to the newly 
appointed Chief Executive. 

Chief Executive 
Chief Executive 
(Designate) 

March 2020 COMPLETED 
Due to the COVID pandemic, the previous Chief Executive stayed 
on in the role of Deputy Chief Executive to support the new chief 
executive through this unprecedented time to ensure a thorough 
handover took place. 
For the month of April to assist in the council’s response to the 
pandemic in particular. 

18.  Ensure the new Chief 
Executive is engaged in key 
partnership meetings (Kent 
Joint Chief Executives, Kent 
and Medway Leaders, North 
Kent Leaders, C2E Executive 
Group, Thames Gateway 
Kent Partnership (TGKP), 
etc.) prior to commencement 
of role. 

Chief Executive 
Chief Executive 
(Designate) 

March 2020 COMPLETED 
The new Chief Executive was introduced to all partners by the 
previous Chief Executive as planned, prior to him leaving the 
Council.  The new Chief Executive is also actively involved in 
bodies such as Kent Joint Chief Executives, Kent and Medway 
Leaders, North Kent Leaders, C2E Executive Group, Thames 
Gateway Kent Partnership (TGKP). 
In addition, the new Chief Executive is the representative from the 
Joint Kent Chief Executive Group on the District Council’s Network 
(DCN), which demonstrates the important role that Gravesham 
Borough Council has across the county and the regard the other 
authorities across Kent pay to GBC and its officers. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 52



11 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Review council policy for flexible working arrangements and ensure consistency of implementation. A synchronisation of the policies 
with the investment in the equipment to make this happen.   

19.  Develop a consistent, 
corporate approach to flexible 
working for the council as a 
whole in line with the action 
plan that has been developed 
in response to the council’s 
IiP assessment, ensuring this 
is communicated to all staff. 

Director 
(Communities) 
 

October 
2020 

As a result of the pandemic, at present a large proportion of the 
council’s workforce are working from home, so temporary 
arrangements for flexible working have been put in place.   
The council is actively reviewing its flexible working arrangements, 
and other associated policies, in light of the way in which the 
council is currently delivering its services to ensure it embraces 
embrace these new ways of working to maintain the higher output 
and efficiency levels that have been generated over the last 12 
months.  

20.  Undertake a review of current 
office space requirements in 
order to determine if there is 
the potential for reducing the 
number of desks required 
and develop a more ‘hot 
desking’ approach for the 
workplace. 

Chief Executive September 
2020 

Proposals are in place for a new Civic Centre, which include 
reduced office space and more opportunity for ‘hot desking’ within 
the building.  Discussions are progressing with key public sector 
partners regarding the use of the new office facilities as a true 
public sector hub given the new ways of working and Gravesham’s 
location along the North Kent corridor and its strong transport 
links. 
This will be explored further by the internal  Homeworking Task 
and Finish Group which will look at homeworking and agile 
working as part of the council’s overall review that is underway. 

 
 

P
age 53



12 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

A more diverse workforce. The Council has a strong programme of engagement initiatives with its diverse community but there is a need 
for the Council to reflect that diversity within its workforce 

21.  Ensure that job 
advertisements are 
publicised externally to 
enable the potential pool of 
candidates to be expanded. 

Director 
(Communities) 

Ongoing COMPLETED 
A large percentage of job advertisements are advertised 
externally, but some Jobs are still advertised internally, especially 
where we have suitable candidates.  It was agreed with staff side 
representatives that they did not want us to advertise in situations 
where an internal candidate is clearly better suited for the role and 
we can offer career opportunities 

22.  Explore the potential for 
introducing a jobs/career fair 
to the borough to not only 
open up the employment 
market across the borough 
but also the council’s specific 
requirements to the 
community.  

Director 
(Communities) 

February 
2020 
onwards Due to the pandemic, a jobs/career fair has not been progressed. 

Instead the council is exploring other ways to give young people 
future job opportunities. 
A piece of work is currently underway to improve and reinvigorate 
the council’s apprenticeship and work experience offering.  The 
council is taking part in the Government Kickstart scheme and is 
offering over 30 placements within the council.  It is also 
expanding the number of career-graded job opportunities across 
the council. 

23.  Review of person 
specification, apprenticeships 
and work experience 
opportunities to ensure they 
are as inclusive as possible 

Director 
(Communities) 

May 2020 

 
 
 

P
age 54



13 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Communicate success more effectively. Utilise expertise of new Communications Team to develop a corporate approach to 
communications that enables the Council to sell its success to the public, partners and staff more effectively 

24.  Further building on action 
point 15, develop a 
Communications Strategy, 
which includes internal 
communications, to ensure 
that there is an approach to 
ensuring the council 
celebrates is success and 
publicises its achievements. 

Communications 
Manager 

September 
2020 

COMPLETED 
Communications Strategy, including internal Communications 
Strategy, adopted by Cabinet in November 2020. 
Further, an LGA communications health check was undertaken in 
October 2020 and recommendations for further improving internal 
communications have been included in a post review action plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 55



14 | P a g e  

 Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timeframe Update – February 2021 

Review risk management. Risk management should be reviewed to include issues such as property investment strategy and non-delivery 
of key developments. 

25.  Engage with Zurich Municipal 
to review the council’s overall 
approach to risk 
management and implement 
any recommendations as 
required. 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

April 2020 The review was conducted by Zurich in October 2019 and 
concluded that the council had strong arrangements in place within 
its risk management arrangements, though did identify 
opportunities to enhance the strategic risk analysis and reporting 
processes, as well as the potential to strengthen governance 
arrangements around service-level risk registers.  
Recommendations regarding strategic risk management were 
implemented through the risk management process adopted for 
reviewing the Risk Management Strategy and developing the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2020/21. 
The recommendations relating to Service Risk Registers will be 
implemented as part of the Departmental Business Planning 
process for 2021-22 which is currently underway.  Following 
completion of the draft business plans, it is intended to introduced 
a new method of ‘peer review’ of plans and service risks at a 
Corporate Management Team level. 

26.  Ensure that a thorough 
review of the council’s risk 
register is undertaken to 
ensure that all potential risks, 
including property investment 
strategy and non-delivery of 
key developments, are 
assessed against the current 
risk criteria. 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

April 2020 COMPLETED 
As part of the work conducted by Zurich in October 2019, time was 
taken to focus on risks to the council’s new strategic objectives 
(the Corporate Plan having been adopted earlier that month) 
through a specific review by Zurich and also the hosting of officer 
and Member risk identification workshops.  These risks were then 
assessed against the current risk criteria and included within the 
Strategic Risk Register where they were identified to be above the 
council’s risk tolerance threshold. 

 

P
age 56



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 22 February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Chief Executive and Perry Holmes, Monitoring 
Officer

Subject: Variation to the Articles of Association for Rosherville Limited

Purpose and summary of report: 
To set out proposed amendments to the Articles of Association for Rosherville Limited for 
Member approval.

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to approve the updated Articles of Association as set out in 

appendix two to this report.
2. Members are requested to delegate authority for the appointment and approval of 

Directors, in line with the revised Articles of Association to the Leader of the Executive in 
consultation with the Chief Executive.

1. Introduction

1.1 At the meeting of Full Council on 17 December, Members approved the formation 
of a Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo).  At this meeting it was clearly set 
out that Cabinet would have responsibility for a number of specific activities, 
including the following:

 The Articles of Association (AoA), which establishes the constitution for the 
company structure.

1.2 In line with this requirement, Cabinet approved the Articles of Association for 
Rosherville Limited, and therefore any subsidiary companies, at its meeting on 03 
February 2020.

Page 57 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Proposed amendments to the Articles of Association

2.1 Currently, the Articles of Association state that Boards of the companies will be 
made up of five Directors and that the quorum for all meetings will be three 
Directors.  This is the case with Rosherville Limited but for the subsidiary Boards 
of Rosherville Property Development Limited and Rosherville Servicing Limited 
this is not the case. The subsidiary companies have been operating at quorate 
level; three Directors.

2.2 Whilst the subsidiary companies have not maintained a full Board establishment, it 
is considered that they have been operating successfully and it would be 
appropriate to update the Articles of Association to reflect the current working 
practices for the subsidiary companies.  

2.3 Amendments to the Articles of Association are suggested as follows:
2.3.1 Article 3 (1) be updated to reflect that Rosherville Limited will continue to 

have five Directors but for subsidiary companies, there will be a 
requirement to have three Directors.

2.3.2 Article 11 (2) be updated to reflect that the quorate for Rosherville Limited 
will continue to be three Directors, including one officer Director, and for 
the subsidiary companies, the quorate will be two officer Directors.

The proposed amendments are highlighted in appendix two.

2.4 In reviewing the Articles of Association, it is also suggested that consideration 
should be given to the Cabinet providing delegated authority to the Leader of the 
Executive, in consultation with the Chief Executive, regarding future appointment 
to the Boards for both the Holding Company and the subsidiary companies.  

2.5 At its meeting in February 2020, the Cabinet approved the Board for Rosherville 
Limited and then subsequently for the subsidiary companies at its meeting on 23 
March 2020.  The Board for Rosherville Limited is made up of Members and 
council officers whereas the subsidiary companies are made up purely of council 
officers.  Post titles for the officer roles are given rather than specific, named 
officers. 

2.6 It is suggested that to ensure changes can be made to the Board in a timely 
manner, such as providing a replacement to an officer Board member who is 
leaving the council with an officer with a different post title, delegations should be 
provided to the Leader in consultation with the Chief Executive.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to Cabinet – 03 February 2020 - Rosherville Limited - Formation of the 
Board and Governance Arrangements

 Report to Cabinet – 23 March 2020 – Establishment of Rosherville Servicing 
Limited 

 Report to Cabinet – 23 March 2020 - Formation of a Local Authority Trading 
Company Subsidiary – Property Development Company

Page 58



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Council and Rosherville Limited have entered formal agreements whereby the 
council is responsible for establishing and approving changes to the Articles of 
Association for the company. This report sets out the proposed changes to the 
Articles of Association in line with this requirement.
Subject to approval of the revised Articles of Association, these will need to be 
updated on Companies House.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial and value for money implications arising from this report.

Risk Assessment It is considered that the risks of this change to the Articles of Association is minimal, 
and is in fact reflective of current operating processes.  There will be a quorate 
maintained for all Boards (holding company and subsidiaries) to ensure robust 
decision-making.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective 3 - Progress:
An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous 
service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance 
environment.

Climate Change There are no specific Climate Change implications resulting from this report.

Page 59

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no specific digital and website implications resulting from this report

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no specific safeguarding children and vulnerable adult’s implications 
resulting from this report.

Page 60



 

[ ] Limited 

Articles of association

adopted by a special resolution passed on [ ]

Trowers & Hamlins LLP
3 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8YZ

t  +44 (0)20 7423 8000
f  +44 (0)20 7423 8001
www.trowers.com

Appendix Two
Page 61



THL.140088193.2 1 WFB.48858.23

Company number: [ ]

Private company limited by shares

Articles of association

of

[ ] Limited (the Company)

1. Defined terms

In the articles, unless the context requires otherwise:

Act means the Companies Act 2006;

Articles means the Company's articles of association;

Bankruptcy includes corporate or individual insolvency proceedings in England and Wales, 
Northern Ireland or any other jurisdiction or those which have an effect similar to that of 
bankruptcy or insolvency;

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the banks in the City 
of London are open for business;

Chair has the meaning given in article 12;

Chair of the meeting has the meaning given in article 39;

Companies Acts means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Act), in so far as 
they apply to the Company;

Council means Gravesham Borough Council; 

Director means a director of the Company, and includes any person occupying the position of 
director, by whatever name called;

Distribution Recipient has the meaning given in article 30;

Document includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied in Electronic 
Form;

Electronic Form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006;

Fully Paid in relation to a Share, means that the nominal value and any premium to be paid to 
the Company in respect of that Share have been paid to the Company;

Hard Copy Form has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006;

Holder in relation to Shares means the person whose name is entered in the register of 
members as the holder of the Shares;

Page 62



THL.140088193.2 2 WFB.48858.23

Instrument means a Document in Hard Copy Form;

Majority Shareholder means a person who holds a majority in nominal value of the issued 
ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company;

Ordinary Resolution has the meaning given in section 282 of the Act;

Paid means paid or credited as paid;

Participate, in relation to a Directors' meeting, has the meaning given in article 10;

Proxy Notice has the meaning given in article 45;

Shareholder means a person who is the Holder of a Share;

Shares means shares in the Company;

Special Resolution has the meaning given in section 283 of the Act;

Statutory Successor means any successor from time to time which substantially performs 
any of the statutory functions or other legal rights that had been previously performed by a 
local authority or other public sector body;

Subsidiary has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006;

Transmittee means: 

(a) a person entitled to a Share by reason of the death or Bankruptcy of a Shareholder or 
otherwise by operation of law; or 

(b) a Statutory Successor of a Shareholder; and

Vice Chair has the meaning given in article 12; 

Writing means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a 
visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in Electronic 
Form or otherwise.

Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these Articles 
bear the same meaning as in the Act as in force on the date when these Articles become 
binding on the Company.

2. Liability of members

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the Shares held by them.

PART 2 DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS' POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3. Directors' numbers and general authority

Page 63



THL.140088193.2 3 WFB.48858.23

(1) The minimum number of Directors from time to time should be 5 save that for a 
Subsidiary it should be 3, and the number of Directors is not subject to any maximum. 

(2) Subject to these Articles, the Directors are responsible for the management of the 
Company's business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the 
Company.

4. Shareholders' reserve power

(1) The Shareholders may, by Special Resolution, direct the Directors to take, or refrain 
from taking, specified action.

(2) No such Special Resolution invalidates anything which the Directors have done 
before the passing of the resolution.

(3) A proposed written resolution of the members of the Company (or of a class of 
members) shall lapse if it is not passed before the end of the period of 28 days 
beginning with the circulation date of such resolution (as defined in section 290 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

5. Directors may delegate

(1) Subject to the Articles, the Directors may delegate any of the powers which are 
conferred on them under the Articles:

(a) to such person or committee;

(b) by such means (including by power of attorney);

(c) to such an extent;

(d) in relation to such matters or territories; and

(e) on such terms and conditions,

as they think fit.

(2) If the Directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of the 
Directors' powers by any person to whom they are delegated.

(3) The Directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and 
conditions.

6. Committees

(1) Committees to which the Directors delegate any of their powers must follow procedures 
which are based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of the Articles which 
govern the taking of decisions by Directors.

(2) The Directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which prevail 
over rules derived from the Articles if they are not consistent with them.

Page 64



THL.140088193.2 4 WFB.48858.23

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

7. Directors to take decisions collectively

(1) The general rule about decision-making by Directors is that any decision of the 
Directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in 
accordance with article 8.

8. Unanimous decisions

(1) A decision of the Directors is taken in accordance with this article when all eligible 
Directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view on a 
matter.

(2) Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in Writing, and may consist of 
several copies of which have been signed by one or more eligible Director or to which 
each eligible Director has otherwise indicated agreement in Writing.

(3) References in this article to eligible Directors are to Directors who would have been 
entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a Directors' 
meeting.

(4) A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible Directors 
would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

9. Calling a board  meeting

(1) Any Director may call a Directors' meeting by giving at least 10 Business Days' notice 
of the meeting to the Directors (or such lesser notice as two Directors appointed by the 
Council may agree) or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to give such 
notice.

(2) Notice of any Directors' meeting must indicate:

(a) its proposed date and time;

(b) where it is to take place; and

(c) if it is anticipated that Directors Participating in the meeting will not be in the 
same place, how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other 
during the meeting.

(3) Notice of a Directors' meeting must be given to each Director, but need not be in 
Writing.

(4) Notice of a Directors' meeting need not be given to Directors who waive their 
entitlement to notice of that meeting of Directors or of a committee of the Directors, by 
giving notice to that effect to the Company. Where such notice is given after the 
meeting has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, or of any 
business conducted at it.

Page 65



THL.140088193.2 5 WFB.48858.23

10. Participation in Directors' meetings

(1) Subject to these Articles, Directors Participate in a Directors' meeting, or part of a 
Directors' meeting, when:

(a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with these Articles; 
and

(b) they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they have 
on any particular item of the business of the meeting.

(2) In determining whether Directors are Participating in a Directors' meeting, it is irrelevant 
where any Director is or how they communicate with each other.

(3) If all the Directors Participating in a meeting are not in the same place, the meeting 
shall be deemed to take place where the largest group of those Participating is 
assembled or, if there is no such group, where the Chair of the meeting is.  

(4) For as long as the Council or a subsidiary of the Council holds Shares, the Council 
shall be entitled to appoint one person to act as an observer to the Board.  The 
observer shall be entitled to attend and speak at all such meetings and receive copies 
of all board papers as if he/she  were a Director but shall not be entitled to vote on any 
resolutions proposed at a board meeting.

11. Quorum for Directors' meetings

(1) At a Directors' meeting, unless a quorum is Participating, no proposal is to be voted on, 
except a proposal to call another meeting.

(2) The quorum for Directors' meetings shall be three, including at least two Directors who 
are elected members and at least one Director who is an officer, save for the meeting 
of a Subsidiary when it shall be two, and there is no requirement for the Director of a 
Subsidiary to be an elected member.

(3) If the total number of Directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the 
Directors must not take any decision other than a decision:

(a) to appoint such number of further Directors as are required to make up the 
quorum required; or

(b) to call a general meeting so as to enable the Shareholders to appoint further 
Directors.

12. Chairing of Directors' meetings

(1) The Council may appoint a Director to chair board meetings.

(2) The person so appointed for the time being is known as the Chair.

(3) The Council may  terminate the Chair's appointment at any time.

Page 66



THL.140088193.2 6 WFB.48858.23

(4) The Council may appoint a Director to be vice chair of board meetings.

(5) The person so appointed for the time being is known as the Vice Chair.

(6) The Council may terminate the Vice Chair's appointment at any time.

(7) If the Chair is not Participating in a Directors' meeting within ten minutes of the time at 
which it was to start, the Participating Directors must appoint the Vice Chair as chair of 
the meeting.

13. Casting vote

(1) If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the Chair or the Vice 
Chair has a casting vote.

(2) But this does not apply if, in accordance with the Articles, the Chair or the Vice Chair is 
not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for quorum or voting 
purposes.

14. Conflicts of interest

(1) If a proposed decision of the Directors is concerned with an actual or proposed 
transaction or arrangement with the Company in which a Director is interested, that 
Director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for quorum 
or voting purposes.

(2) But if paragraph (3) applies, a Director who is interested in an actual or proposed 
transaction or arrangement with the Company is to be counted as Participating in the 
decision-making process for quorum and voting purposes.

(3) This paragraph applies when:

(a) the Company by Ordinary Resolution disapplies the provision of the Articles 
which would otherwise prevent a Director from being counted as Participating in 
the decision-making process;

(b) the Director's interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a 
conflict of interest; or

(c) the Director's conflict of interest arises from a permitted cause.

(4) For the purposes of this article, the following are permitted causes:

(a) a guarantee given, or to be given, by or to a Director in respect of an obligation 
incurred by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(b) subscription, or an agreement to subscribe, for Shares or other securities of the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or to underwrite, sub-underwrite, or 
guarantee subscription for any such Shares or securities; and

Page 67



THL.140088193.2 7 WFB.48858.23

(c) arrangements pursuant to which benefits are made available to employees and 
Directors or former employees and directors of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries which do not provide special benefits for Directors or former 
directors.

(5) For the purposes of this article, references to proposed decisions and decision-making 
processes include any Directors' meeting or part of a Directors' meeting.

(6) Subject to paragraph (7), if a question arises at a meeting of Directors or of a 
committee of Directors as to the right of a Director to Participate in the meeting (or part 
of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes, the question may, before the conclusion 
of the meeting, be referred to the Chair whose ruling in relation to any Director other 
than the Chair is to be final and conclusive.

(7) If any question as to the right to Participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) 
should arise in respect of the Chair, the question is to be decided by a decision of the 
Directors at that meeting, for which purpose the Chair is not to be counted as 
Participating in the meeting (or that part of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes.

15. Authorisation of Directors' conflicts of interest

(1) For the purposes of section 175 of the Act, as amended, consolidated or re-enacted 
from time to time, the Shareholders shall have the power to authorise any matter which 
would or might otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by a Director of the duty to 
avoid conflicts of interest set out in that section of the 2006 Act.  Any reference in these 
Articles to a conflict of interest includes a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of 
duties. 

(2) Authorisation of a matter under article 15 shall be effective only if the matter in question 
shall have been proposed in Writing for consideration by the Shareholders, or in such 
other manner as the Shareholders may determine.

(3) Unless otherwise determined by the Shareholder, any authorisation of a matter under 
article 15 shall extend to any actual or potential conflict of interest which may 
reasonably be expected to arise out of the matter so authorised.

(4) Any authorisation of a matter under article 15 shall be on such terms and/or conditions 
as the Shareholder may determine, whether at the time such authorisation is given or 
subsequently and may be varied or terminated by the Shareholder at any time.  Such 
terms or conditions may include (without limitation) terms and conditions as to the 
duration, renewal and/or revocation of the authorisation.  A Director shall comply with 
any obligations imposed on him by the Shareholder pursuant to any such authorisation.

(5) A Director, notwithstanding his office, may be a director or other officer of, employed 
by, an elected member of or otherwise interested (including by the holding of Shares) 
in, the Council or in a Shareholder who has appointed him as a Director of the 
Company, or any other member of such Shareholder's group, or an employee of 
another local authority placed at the disposal of the Council pursuant to section 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, and no authorisation under article 15 shall be 
necessary in respect of any such interest.

Page 68



THL.140088193.2 8 WFB.48858.23

(6) If a Director receives or has received any information otherwise than by virtue of his 
position as a Director of the Company and in respect of which he owes a duty of 
confidentiality to another person, the Director is under no obligation to:

(a) disclose any such information to the Company, the Directors or any other 
Director or employee of the Company; or

(b) use or apply any such information in connection with the performance of his 
duties as a Director.

(7) Provided that such duty of confidentiality arises out of a situation or relationship which 
would or might otherwise constitute or give rise to a breach by the Director of the duty 
to avoid conflicts of interest set out in section 175 of the Act, this article shall apply only 
if such situation or relationship has been authorised by the Shareholder under article 
15.

(8) A Director shall not, save as otherwise agreed by him, be accountable to the Company 
for any benefit which he (or a person connected with him) derives from any matter 
authorised under article 15 and any contract, transaction or arrangement relating 
thereto shall not be liable to be avoided on the grounds of any such benefit.

16. Records of decisions to be kept

The Directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in Writing, for at least 10 years 
from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority decision taken by the 
Directors.

17. Directors' discretion to make further rules

Subject to the Articles, the Directors may make any rule which they think fit about how they 
take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to Directors.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

18. Methods of appointing and removing Directors

(1) Any person who is willing to act as a Director, and is permitted by law to do so, may 
only be appointed to be a Director:

(a) in accordance with article 18(4); or

(b) by Ordinary Resolution. 

(2) In any case where, as a result of death of a natural person, the Company has no 
Shareholders and no Directors, the personal representatives of the last Shareholder to 
have died have the right, by notice in Writing, to appoint a person to be a Director.

(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2), where 2 or more Shareholders die in circumstances 
rendering it uncertain who was the last to die, a younger Shareholder is deemed to 
have survived an older Shareholder.

Page 69



THL.140088193.2 9 WFB.48858.23

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, the Majority Shareholder may at 
any time and from time to time:

(a) appoint any person to be a Director; or

(b) remove any Director from office.

(5) Any appointment or removal of a Director pursuant to article 18(4)shall be in Writing 
and signed by or on behalf of the Majority Shareholder and served on each of the other 
Shareholders (if any) and the Company at its registered office, or delivered to a duly 
constituted meeting of the Directors of the Company. Any such appointment or removal 
shall take effect as indicated in such notice or, in the absence of express provision in 
such notice, shall take effect when received by the Company or at such later time as 
shall be specified in such notice.

(6) In any case where, as a result of Bankruptcy, the Company has no Shareholders and 
no Directors, the trustee in Bankruptcy or other Transmittee(s) of the last Shareholder 
to have a bankruptcy order made against him has the right, by notice in Writing, to 
appoint a natural person (including himself) who is willing to act and is permitted to do 
so to be a Director.  

Termination of Director's appointment

(7) A person ceases to be a Director as soon as:

(a) that person ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Act or is 
prohibited from being a Director by law;

(b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person;

(c) a composition is made with that person's creditors generally in satisfaction of 
that person's debts;

(d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written 
opinion to the Company stating that that person has become physically or 
mentally incapable of acting as a Director and may remain so for more than 
three months;

(e) notification is received by the Company from the Director that the Director is 
resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with 
its terms;

(f) that person is removed from office in accordance with article 18(4);

(g) as soon as he has been absent without permission of the Directors from three 
consecutive meetings of Directors and the Directors resolve that his office be 
vacated; or

(h) being an officer or elected member of the Council at the time of his appointment 
as a Director, his employment by the Council is terminated for any reason or he 
ceases to be an elected member of the Council.

Page 70



THL.140088193.2 10 WFB.48858.23

19. Directors' remuneration

(1) Directors may undertake any services for the Company that the Directors decide.

(2) Directors are not entitled to receive any remuneration from the Company:

(a)  for their services to the Company as Directors; or

(b) for any other service which they undertake for the Company. 

20. Directors' expenses

The Company may pay any reasonable expenses which the Directors properly incur in 
connection with their attendance at:

(a) meetings of Directors or committees of Directors;

(b) general meetings; 

(c) separate meetings of the Holders of any class of Shares or of debentures of the 
Company; or

(d) or otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the discharge 
of their responsibilities in relation to the Company.

PART 3 SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS

SHARES

21. Nil- or partly-paid Shares

The Company is prohibited at any time from having nil or partly paid Shares in issue. 

22. Powers to issue different classes of Share

(1) Subject to the Articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any existing 
Share, the Company may issue Shares with such rights or restrictions as may be 
determined by Ordinary Resolution.

(2) The Company may issue Shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be 
redeemed at the option of the Company or the Holder, and the Directors may 
determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such Shares.

23. Company not bound by less than absolute interests

Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the Company as holding any 
Share upon any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or the Articles, the Company is 
not in any way to be bound by or recognise any interest in a Share other than the Holder's 
absolute ownership of it and all the rights attaching to it.

Page 71



THL.140088193.2 11 WFB.48858.23

24. Share certificates

(1) The Company must issue each Shareholder, free of charge, with one or more 
certificates in respect of the Shares which that Shareholder holds.

(2) Every certificate must specify:

(a) in respect of how many Shares, of what class, it is issued;

(b) the nominal value of those Shares;

(c) the amount paid up on the Shares;  and

(d) any distinguishing numbers assigned to them.

(3) No certificate may be issued in respect of Shares of more than one class.

(4) If more than one person holds a Share, only one certificate may be issued in respect of 
it.

(5) Certificates must:

(a) have affixed to them the Company's common seal; or

(b) be otherwise executed in accordance with the Companies Acts.

25. Replacement Share certificates

(1) If a certificate issued in respect of a Shareholder's Shares is:

(a) damaged or defaced; or

(b) said to be lost, stolen or destroyed,

that Shareholder is entitled to be issued with a replacement certificate in respect of the 
same Shares.

(2) A Shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement certificate:

(a) may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certificate or 
separate certificates;

(b) must return the certificate which is to be replaced to the Company if it is 
damaged or defaced; and

(c) must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment of 
a reasonable fee as the Directors decide.

Page 72



THL.140088193.2 12 WFB.48858.23

26. Share transfers

(1) Shares may be transferred by means of an Instrument of transfer in any usual form or 
any other form approved by the Directors, which is executed by or on behalf of the 
transferor.

(2) No fee may be charged for registering any Instrument of transfer or other Document 
relating to or affecting the title to any Share.

(3) The Company may retain any Instrument of transfer which is registered.

(4) The transferor remains the Holder of a Share until the transferee's name is entered in 
the register of members as Holder of it.

(5) The Directors may refuse to register the transfer of a Share, and if they do so, the 
Instrument of transfer must be returned to the transferee with the notice of refusal 
unless they suspect that the proposed transfer may be fraudulent.

27. Transmission of Shares

(1) If title to a Share passes to a Transmittee, the Company may only recognise the 
Transmittee as having any title to that Share.

(2) A Transmittee who produces such evidence of entitlement to Shares as the Directors 
may properly require:

(a) may, subject to the Articles, choose either to become the Holder of those 
Shares or to have them transferred to another person; and

(b) subject to the Articles, and pending any transfer of the Shares to another 
person, has the same rights as the Holder had.

(3) Subject to article 18(6) Transmittees do not have the right to attend or vote at a general 
meeting, or agree to a proposed written resolution, in respect of Shares to which they 
are entitled, by reason of the Holder's death or Bankruptcy or otherwise, unless they 
become the Holders of those Shares.

28. Exercise of Transmittees' rights

(1) Transmittees who wish to become the Holders of Shares to which they have become 
entitled must notify the Company in Writing of that wish.

(2) If the Transmittee wishes to have a Share transferred to another person, the 
Transmittee must execute an Instrument of transfer in respect of it.

(3) Any transfer made or executed under this article is to be treated as if it were made or 
executed by the person from whom the Transmittee has derived rights in respect of the 
Share, and as if the event which gave rise to the transmission had not occurred.

Page 73



THL.140088193.2 13 WFB.48858.23

29. Transmittees bound by prior notices

If a notice is given to a Shareholder in respect of Shares and a Transmittee is entitled to those 
Shares, the Transmittee is bound by the notice if it was given to the Shareholder before the 
Transmittee's name has been entered in the register of members.

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS

30. Procedure for declaring dividends

(1) The Company may by Ordinary Resolution declare dividends, and the Directors may 
decide to pay interim dividends.

(2) A dividend must not be declared unless the Directors have made a recommendation as 
to its amount. Such a dividend must not exceed the amount recommended by the 
Directors.

(3) No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with Shareholders' 
respective rights.

(4) Unless the Shareholders' resolution to declare or Directors' decision to pay a dividend, 
or the terms on which Shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid by 
reference to each Shareholder's holding of Shares on the date of the resolution or 
decision to declare or pay it.

(5) If the Company's Share capital is divided into different classes, no interim dividend may 
be paid on Shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if, at the time of payment, 
any preferential dividend is in arrears.

(6) The Directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it appears to 
them that the profits available for distribution justify the payment.

(7) If the Directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to the Holders of Shares 
conferring preferred rights for any loss they may suffer by the lawful payment of an 
interim dividend on Shares with deferred or non-preferred rights.

(8) Except as otherwise provided by these Articles or the rights attached to Shares, all 
dividends must be:

(a) declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares on which 
the dividend is paid; and

(b) apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid up on the Shares 
during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is 
paid.

(9) If any Share is issued on terms providing that it ranks for dividend as from a particular 
date, that Share ranks for dividend accordingly.  For the purposes of calculating 
dividends, no account is to be taken of any amount which has been paid up on a Share 
in advance of the due date for payment of that amount.

Page 74



THL.140088193.2 14 WFB.48858.23

31. Payment of dividends and other distributions

(1) Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect of a Share, 
it must be paid by one or more of the following means:

(a) transfer to a bank or building society account specified by the Distribution 
Recipient either in Writing or as the Directors may otherwise decide;

(b) sending a cheque made payable to the Distribution Recipient by post to the 
Distribution Recipient at the Distribution Recipient's registered address (if the 
Distribution Recipient is a Holder of the Share), or (in any other case) to an 
address specified by the Distribution Recipient either in writing or as the 
Directors may otherwise decide;

(c) sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such 
address as the Distribution Recipient has specified either in Writing or as the 
Directors may otherwise decide; or

(d) any other means of payment as the Directors agree with the Distribution 
Recipient either in Writing or by such other means as the Directors decide.

(2) In the Articles, “the Distribution Recipient” means, in respect of a Share in respect of 
which a dividend or other sum is payable:

(a) the Holder of the Share; 

(b) if the Share has two or more joint Holders, whichever of them is named first in 
the register of members; or

(c) if the Holder is no longer entitled to the Share by reason of death or Bankruptcy, 
or otherwise by operation of law, the Transmittee.

32. No interest on distributions

The Company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in respect of a Share 
unless otherwise provided by:

(a) the terms on which the Share was issued; or

(b) the provisions of another agreement between the Holder of that Share and the 
Company.

33. Unclaimed distributions

(1) All dividends or other sums which are:

(a) payable in respect of Shares; and

(b) unclaimed after having been declared or become payable,

may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit of the 
Company until claimed.

Page 75



THL.140088193.2 15 WFB.48858.23

(2) The payment of any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not make 
the Company a trustee in respect of it.

(3) If:

(a) twelve years have passed from the date on which a dividend or other sum 
became due for payment; and

(b) the Distribution Recipient has not claimed it,

the Distribution Recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it ceases 
to remain owing by the Company.

34. Non-cash distributions

(1) Subject to the terms of issue of the Share in question, the Company may, by Ordinary 
Resolution on the recommendation of the Directors, decide to pay all or part of a 
dividend or other distribution payable in respect of a Share by transferring non-cash 
assets of equivalent value (including, without limitation, Shares or other securities in 
any company).

(2) For the purposes of paying a non-cash distribution, the Directors may make whatever 
arrangements they think fit, including, where any difficulty arises regarding the 
distribution:

(a) fixing the value of any assets;

(b) paying cash to any Distribution Recipient on the basis of that value in order to 
adjust the rights of recipients; and

(c) vesting any assets in trustees.

35. Waiver of distributions

Distribution Recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other distribution payable in 
respect of a Share by giving the Company notice in Writing to that effect, but if:

(a) the Share has more than one Holder; or

(b) more than one person is entitled to the Share, whether by reason of the death 
or Bankruptcy of one or more joint Holders, or otherwise,

the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the Holders or 
persons otherwise entitled to the Share.

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

36. Authority to capitalise and appropriation of capitalised sums

(1) Subject to the Articles, the Directors may, if they are so authorised by an Ordinary 
Resolution:

Page 76



THL.140088193.2 16 WFB.48858.23

(a) decide to capitalise any profits of the Company (whether or not they are 
available for distribution) which are not required for paying a preferential 
dividend, or any sum standing to the credit of the Company's Share premium 
account or capital redemption reserve; and

(b) appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) to 
the persons who would have been entitled to it if it were distributed by way of 
dividend (the “persons entitled”) and in the same proportions.

(2) Capitalised sums must be applied:

(a) on behalf of the persons entitled; and

(b) in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them.

(3) Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new Shares of a nominal amount 
equal to the capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as Fully Paid to the 
persons entitled or as they may direct.

(4) A capitalised sum which was appropriated from profits available for distribution may be 
applied in paying up new debentures of the Company which are then allotted credited 
as Fully Paid to the persons entitled or as they may direct.

(5) Subject to the Articles the Directors may:

(a) apply capitalised sums in accordance with paragraphs (3) and (4) partly in one 
way and partly in another;

(b) make such arrangements as they think fit to deal with Shares or debentures 
becoming distributable in fractions under this article (including the issuing of 
fractional certificates or the making of cash payments); and

(c) authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the Company on behalf of 
all the persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of the allotment of 
Shares and debentures to them under this article.

PART 4 DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

37. Attendance and speaking at general meetings

(1) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is 
in a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, 
any information or opinions which that person has on the business of the meeting.

(2) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when:

(a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at 
the meeting; and

Page 77



THL.140088193.2 17 WFB.48858.23

(b) that person's vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such 
resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons 
attending the meeting.

(3) The Directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable 
those attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.

(4) In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two or 
more members attending it are in the same place as each other.

(5) Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general 
meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to 
speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to exercise them.

38. Quorum for general meetings

No business other than the appointment of the Chair of the meeting is to be transacted at a 
general meeting if the persons attending it do not constitute a quorum.

39. Chairing general meetings

(1) If the Directors have appointed a Chair, the Chair shall chair general meetings if 
present and willing to do so.

If the Directors have not appointed a Chair, or if the Chair is unwilling to chair the 
meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a meeting was due to 
start the Vice Chair will chair the meeting.

(2) The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to as “the 
Chair of the meeting”.

40. Attendance and speaking by Directors and non-Shareholders

(1) Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are 
Shareholders.

(2) The Chair of the meeting may permit other persons who are not:

(a) Shareholders of the Company; or

(b) otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of Shareholders in relation to general 
meetings,

to attend and speak at a general meeting.

41. Adjournment

(1) If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the time at which the 
meeting was due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if during a meeting a quorum 
ceases to be present, the Chair of the meeting must adjourn it.

Page 78



THL.140088193.2 18 WFB.48858.23

(2) The Chair of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a quorum is present 
if:

(a) the meeting consents to an adjournment; or

(b) it appears to the Chair of the meeting that an adjournment is necessary to 
protect the safety of any person attending the meeting or ensure that the 
business of the meeting is conducted in an orderly manner.

(3) The Chair of the meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to do so by the 
meeting.

(4) When adjourning a general meeting, the Chair of the meeting must:

(a) either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it is to 
continue at a time and place to be fixed by the Directors; and

(b) have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any adjournment 
which have been given by the meeting.

(5) If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 days after it 
was adjourned, the Company must give at least 7 clear days' notice of it (that is, 
excluding the day of the adjourned meeting and the day on which the notice is given):

(a) to the same persons to whom notice of the Company's general meetings is 
required to be given; and

(b) containing the same information which such notice is required to contain 
including the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned.

(6) No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which could not 
properly have been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment had not taken place.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

42. Voting: general

A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of hands unless a 
poll is duly demanded in accordance with the Articles.

43. Errors and disputes

(1) No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general 
meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is 
tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting is valid.

(2) Any such objection must be referred to the Chair of the meeting, whose decision is 
final.

Page 79



THL.140088193.2 19 WFB.48858.23

44. Poll votes

(1) A poll on a resolution may be demanded:

(a) in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote; or

(b) at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution or 
immediately after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is declared.

(2) A poll may be demanded by:

(a) the Chair of the meeting;

(b) the Directors;

(c) any member (present in person or by proxy) having the right to attend and vote 
at the meeting or by a duly authorised representative of a corporation that is a 
member of the Company or by two or more persons having the right to vote on 
the resolution; or

(d) a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total voting 
rights of all the Shareholders having the right to vote on the resolution.

(3) A demand for a poll may, before the poll is taken, be withdrawn.  A demand so 
withdrawn shall not invalidate the result of a vote on a show of hands declared before 
the demand was made.   

(4) Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the Chair of the meeting 
directs.

(5) The failure of any proxy or corporate representative to vote in accordance with any 
instructions given by the member by whom such proxy or corporate representative is 
appointed shall not invalidate the result of any vote in which the proxy or corporate 
representative has Participated and the Company and the Directors shall be under no 
duty to enquire as to the instructions given to any such proxy or corporate 
representative.

45. Content of Proxy Notices

(1) Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in Writing (a “Proxy Notice”) which:

(a) states the name and address of the Shareholder appointing the proxy;

(b) identifies the person appointed to be that Shareholder's proxy and the general 
meeting in relation to which that person is appointed;

(c) is signed by or on behalf of the Shareholder appointing the proxy, or is 
authenticated in such manner as the Directors may determine; and

(d) is delivered to the Company in accordance with the Articles and any instructions 
contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate.

Page 80



THL.140088193.2 20 WFB.48858.23

(2) The Company may require Proxy Notices to be delivered in a particular form, and may 
specify different forms for different purposes.

(3) Proxy Notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that the 
proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions.

(4) Unless a Proxy Notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as:

(a) allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote 
on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting; and

(b) appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general 
meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself.

46. Delivery of Proxy Notices

(1) A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of hands or on a 
poll) at a general meeting remains so entitled in respect of that meeting or any 
adjournment of it, even though a valid Proxy Notice has been delivered to the 
Company by or on behalf of that person.

(2) An appointment under a Proxy Notice may be revoked by delivering to the Company a 
notice in Writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on whose behalf the 
Proxy Notice was given.

(3) A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before the start 
of the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates.

(4) If a Proxy Notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be 
accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to 
execute it on the appointor's behalf.

47. Amendments to resolutions

(1) An Ordinary Resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by 
Ordinary Resolution if:

(a) notice of the proposed amendment is given to the Company in Writing by a 
person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not 
less than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the 
Chair of the meeting may determine); and

(b) the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the Chair of 
the meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution.

(2) A Special Resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by 
Ordinary Resolution, if:

(a) the Chair of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at 
which the resolution is to be proposed; and

Page 81



THL.140088193.2 21 WFB.48858.23

(b) the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical 
or other non-substantive error in the resolution;

(c) if the Chair of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an 
amendment to a resolution is out of order, the Chair's error does not invalidate 
the vote on that resolution.

PART 5 ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

48. Means of communication to be used

(1) Subject to the Articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the Company under the 
Articles may be sent or supplied in any way in which the Act provides for Documents or 
information which are authorised or required by any provision of the Act to be sent or 
supplied by or to the Company.

(2) Subject to the Articles, any notice or Document to be sent or supplied to a Director in 
connection with the taking of decisions by Directors may also be sent or supplied by 
the means by which that Director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or 
Documents for the time being.

(3) A Director may agree with the Company that notices or Documents sent to that Director 
in a particular way are to be deemed to have been received within a specified time of 
their being sent, and for the specified time to be less than 48 hours.

(4) Any notice, Document or other information shall be deemed served on or delivered to 
the intended recipient:

(a) if properly addressed and sent by prepaid United Kingdom first class post to an 
address in the United Kingdom, 48 hours after it was posted (or five Business 
Days after posting either to an address outside the United Kingdom or from 
outside the United Kingdom to an address within the United Kingdom, if (in 
each case) sent by reputable international overnight courier addressed to the 
intended recipient, provided that delivery in at least five Business Days was 
guaranteed at the time of sending and the sending party receives a confirmation 
of delivery from the courier service provider);

(b) if properly addressed and delivered by hand, when it was given or left at the 
appropriate address;

(c) if properly addressed and sent or supplied by electronic means, one hour after 
the Document or information was sent or supplied; and

(d) if sent or supplied by means of a website, when the material is first made 
available on the website or (if later) when the recipient receives (or is deemed 
to have received) notice of the fact that the material is available on the website.

(5) In proving that any notice, Document or other information was properly addressed, it 
shall be sufficient to show that the notice, Document or other information was delivered 
to an address permitted for the purpose by the Act.

Page 82



THL.140088193.2 22 WFB.48858.23

49. Company seals

(1) Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the Directors.

(2) The Directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be 
used.

(3) Unless otherwise decided by the Directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is 
affixed to a Document, the Document must also be signed by at least one authorised 
person in the presence of a witness who attests the signature.

(4) For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is:

(a) any Director of the Company;

(b) the Company secretary (if any); or

(c) any person authorised by the Directors for the purpose of signing Documents to 
which the common seal is applied.

50. Right to inspect accounts and other records

The Council and its authorised representatives shall have the right, on giving to the Company 
reasonable advance notice, during normal business hours to inspect the books and records of 
the Company and, to the extent not otherwise agreed in writing by the Council, any Subsidiary 
of the Company.

51. Provision for employees on cessation of business

The Directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly 
employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than a Director or former director or 
shadow director) in connection with the cessation or transfer to any person of the whole or part 
of the undertaking of the Company or that Subsidiary.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

52. Indemnity

(1) The Company will indemnify any relevant officer out of the assets of the Company from 
and against any loss, liability or expense incurred by him or them in relation to the 
Company (including any liability incurred in connection with the activities of the 
Company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an occupational 
pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Act)) provided that this article 
shall have effect, and any indemnity provided by or pursuant to it shall apply, only to 
the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions of, the Act.  This article does not 
allow for or provide (to any extent) an indemnity which is more extensive than as 
permitted by the Act and any such indemnity is limited accordingly.  This article is also 
without prejudice to any indemnity to which any person may otherwise be entitled.

(2) To the extent permitted by, and subject to the restrictions in, the Act and without 
prejudice to any indemnity to which he may otherwise be entitled, the board shall have 

Page 83



THL.140088193.2 23 WFB.48858.23

the power to provide funds to meet any expenditure incurred or to be incurred by any 
relevant officer in defending any criminal or civil (including regulatory) proceedings, or 
in connection with an application under the Act, or to enable him to avoid incurring such 
expenditure.

53. Insurance

(1) The Directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of the 
Company, for the benefit of any relevant Director in respect of any relevant loss.

(2) Without prejudice to the provisions of article 53 (1), the Directors may exercise all the 
powers of the Company to purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of any 
person who is a relevant officer or an employee or former employee of the Company or 
any associated company or who is or was a trustee of a retirement benefits scheme or 
another trust in which a relevant officer or an employee or former employee is or has 
been interested, indemnifying him against liability for negligence, default, breach of 
duty or breach of trust or any other liability which may lawfully be insured against by the 
Company.

(3) In this article:

(a) a “relevant Director” means any Director or former director of the Company or 
an associated company;

(b) a “relevant loss” means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred 
by a relevant Director in connection with that Director's duties or powers in 
relation to the Company, any associated company or any pension fund or 
employees' Share scheme of the Company or associated company; and

(c) companies are associated if one is a Subsidiary of the other or both are 
Subsidiaries of the same body corporate.

Page 84



Document is Restricted

Page 85 Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 GBC Response to the COVID Pandemic
	7 Update against the LGA Peer Challenge Recommendations
	2. Appendix 2 - LGA Peer Challenge Action Plan Review - February 2021

	8 Proposed amendments to the Articles of Association for Rosherville Limited
	2. Articles of Association_THL_140088193_2 (amended February 2021 PDH)

	11 Gurdwara Car Park

